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DEFINITIONS

Basin. A large natural depression on the earth’s surface in which sediments generally brought by water accumulate.

Bbl. One stock tank barrel, of 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used herein in reference to crude oil, condensate or NGL.

BCE. Investment funds managed by Bayou City Energy Management LLC and affiliates thereof.

BCE-Mach. BCE-Mach LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

BCE-Mach Credit Facility. The reserve-based revolving credit facility that BCE-Mach entered into on September 2, 2022 with a syndicate of banks, including MidFirst Bank
who served as sole book runner and lead arranger, maturing in September 2026.

BCE-Mach II. BCE-Mach II LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

BCE-Mach II Credit Facility. The reserve-based revolving credit facility that BCE-Mach II entered into with a syndicate of banks, including East West Bank, who served as
sole book runner and lead arranger.

BCE-Mach III or the Company. BCE-Mach III LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

BCE-Mach III Credit Facility. The reserve-based revolving credit facility that the Company entered into with a syndicate of banks, including MidFirst Bank, who served as
administrative agent and issuing bank.

BCE-Mach Aggregator. BCE-Mach Aggregator LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

BCE-Stack. BCE-Stack Development LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

Boe. One barrel of oil equivalent, converting natural gas to oil at the ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of oil.

Completion. The process of treating a drilled well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for the production of natural gas or oil, or in the case of a dry hole, the
reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Existing Credit Facilities. Together, the BCE-Mach Credit Facility, the BCE-Mach II Credit Facility and the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility that existed prior to the Offering.

Existing Owners. Collectively refers to BCE and the Management Members.

Holdco. Mach Natural Resources Holdco LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

Intermediate. Mach Natural Resources Intermediate LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

Lease operating expense. The expenses of lifting oil or natural gas from a producing formation to the surface, constituting part of the current operating expenses of a working
interest, and also including labor, superintendence, supplies, repairs, short-lived assets, maintenance, allocated overhead costs, workover, ad valorem taxes, insurance and other
expenses incidental to production, but excluding lease acquisition or drilling or completion expenses.

LOE. Lease operating expense.

Mach Companies. Collectively refers to BCE-Mach, BCE-Mach II, and BCE-Mach III.

Mach Resources. Mach Resources LLC.

Management Members. Collectively refers to our current officers and employees who own indirect equity interests in the Mach Companies.

MBbl. One thousand barrels of crude oil, condensate or NGLs.

MBoe. One thousand Boe.

MBoe/d. One thousand Boe per day.

Mcf. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

MMbbl. One million barrels of oil.

MMBoe. One million Boe.

MMBtu. One million Btu.

MMcf. One million cubic feet of natural gas.
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MMcf/d. One million cubic feet of natural gas per day.

NGLs. Hydrocarbons found in natural gas which may be extracted as liquefied petroleum gas and natural gasoline.

New Credit Facility. Refers to the new reserve-based revolving credit facility entered into by Holdco and MidFirst Bank on November 10, 2023.

NYMEX. The New York Mercantile Exchange.

NYSE. The New York Stock Exchange.

OPEC+. Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries.

Partnership agreement. The Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Mach Natural Resources LP.

Working interest. The right granted to the lessee of a property to explore for and to produce and own oil and natural gas or other minerals. The working interest owners bear the
exploration, development, and operating costs on either a cash, penalty, or carried basis.

Workover. Operations on a producing well to restore or increase production.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”) may contain “forward-looking statements.” All statements, other than statements of
historical fact included in this Report regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives
of management are forward-looking statements. When used in this Report, words such as “may,” “assume,” “forecast,” “could,” “should,” “will,” “plan,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “budget” and similar expressions are used to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking
statements contain such identifying words. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current belief, based on currently available information, as to the
outcome and timing of future events at the time such statement was made. When considering forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other
cautionary statements described under “Risk Factors” in our final prospectus filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4), dated October
24, 2023 (the “Final Prospectus”).

Forward looking statements may include statements about:

• our business strategy;

• our estimated proved reserves;

• our ability to distribute cash available for distribution and achieve or maintain certain financial and operational metrics;

• our drilling prospects, inventories, projects and programs;

• general economic conditions, including the effects of a global health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic;

• actions taken by OPEC + as it pertains to the global supply and demand of, and prices for, oil, natural gas and NGLs;

• our ability to replace the reserves we produce through drilling and property acquisitions;

• our financial strategy, leverage, liquidity and capital required for our development program;

• our pending legal or environmental matters;

• our realized oil and natural gas prices;

• the timing and amount of our future production of natural gas;

• our ability to reduce or offset our greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, including our ability to achieve carbon neutrality;

• our hedging strategy and results;

• our competition and government regulations;

• our ability to obtain permits and governmental approvals;

• our marketing of natural gas;

• our leasehold or business acquisitions;

• our costs of developing our properties;

• credit markets;

• our decline rates of our oil and gas properties;

• uncertainty regarding our future operating results; and
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• our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this Report that are not historical.

We caution you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond
our control, incident to the exploration for and development and production of oil, natural gas and NGL. We disclose important factors that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from our expectations as described under “Risk Factors” in the Final Prospectus. Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results
contemplated by such forward-looking statement include:

• commodity price volatility;

• the impact of epidemics, outbreaks or other public health events, and the related effects on financial markets, worldwide economic activity and our operations;

• the impact of COVID-19, and governmental measures related thereto, on global demand for oil and natural gas and on the operations of our business;

• uncertainties about our estimated oil, natural gas and NGL reserves, including the impact of commodity price declines on the economic producibility of such reserves, and
in projecting future rates of production;

• the concentration of our operations in the Anadarko Basin;

• difficult and adverse conditions in the domestic and global capital and credit markets;

• lack of transportation and storage capacity as a result of oversupply, government regulations or other factors;

• lack of availability of drilling and production equipment and services;

• potential financial losses or earnings reductions resulting from our commodity price risk management program or any inability to manage our commodity risks;

• failure to realize expected value creation from property acquisitions and trades;

• access to capital and the timing of development expenditures;

• environmental, weather, drilling and other operating risks;

• regulatory changes, including potential shut-ins or production curtailments mandated by the Railroad Commission of Texas;

• competition in the oil and natural gas industry;

• loss of production and leasehold rights due to mechanical failure or depletion of wells and our inability to re-establish their production;

• our ability to service our indebtedness;

• any downgrades in our credit ratings that could negatively impact our cost of and ability to access capital;

• cost inflation;

• political and economic conditions and events in foreign oil and natural gas producing countries, including embargoes, continued hostilities in the Middle East and other
sustained military campaigns, the war in Ukraine and associated economic sanctions on Russia, conditions in South America, Central America, China and Russia, and acts
of terrorism or sabotage;
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• evolving cybersecurity risks such as those involving unauthorized access, denial-of-service attacks, malicious software, data privacy breaches by employees, insiders or
other with authorized access, cyber or phishing-attacks, ransomware, social engineering, physical breaches or other actions; and

• risks related to our ability to expand our business, including through the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel.

Reserve engineering is a process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in an exact way. The accuracy of any reserve
estimate depends on the quality of available data, the interpretation of such data and price and cost assumptions made by reservoir engineers. In addition, the results of drilling,
testing and production activities may justify revisions of estimates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the schedule of any further production
and development drilling. Accordingly, our reserve and PV-10 estimates may differ significantly from the quantities of oil, natural gas and NGLs that are ultimately recovered.

Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, our actual results and plans could differ materially
from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Report are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. This cautionary
statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue.

Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements, all of which are expressly qualified by the statements in
this section, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Report.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

BCE-MACH III LLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

September 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,737 $ 29,417 
Accounts receivable – joint interest and other 21,957 21,490 
Accounts receivable – oil, gas, and NGL sales 68,160 108,277 
Inventories 17,647 24,700 
Other current assets 3,450 2,349 

Total current assets 169,951 186,233 

Oil and natural gas properties, using the full cost method:
Proved oil and natural gas properties 1,018,171 749,934 
Less: accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (225,604) (139,514)

Oil and natural gas properties, net 792,567 610,420 

Other property, plant and equipment 91,146 82,125 
Less: accumulated depreciation (13,722) (9,198)

Other property, plant and equipment, net 77,424 72,927 

Other assets 2,846 3,052 
Operating lease assets 11,995 14,809 

Total assets $ 1,054,783 $ 887,441 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 34,106 $ 19,429 
Accrued liabilities 36,774 60,169 
Revenue payable 52,955 52,196 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 8,820 10,767 
Short-term derivative contracts 3,547 10,080 

Total current liabilities 136,202 152,641 

Long-term debt 91,900 84,900 
Asset retirement obligations 55,973 52,359 
Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities 3,296 4,042 
Other long-term liabilities 603 269 

Total long-term liabilities 151,772 141,570 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Members’ equity 766,809 593,230 
Total liabilities and members’ equity $ 1,054,783 $ 887,441 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BCE-MACH III LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue

Oil, natural gas, and NGL sales $ 166,706 $ 258,431 $ 479,319 $ 666,873 
Midstream revenue 6,683 12,045 20,001 31,929 
Gain (loss) on oil and natural gas derivatives (4,900) (1,720) 10,842 (74,577)
Product sales 6,900 26,988 24,321 74,948 

Total revenues 175,389 295,744 534,483 699,173 

Operating expenses
Gathering and processing 7,962 15,147 25,472 35,959 
Lease operating expense 28,879 28,431 89,494 68,023 
Midstream operating expense 2,725 4,029 8,263 11,006 
Cost of product sales 6,024 25,355 21,599 70,313 
Production taxes 7,660 14,484 23,186 37,159 
Depreciation, depletion, and accretion – oil and natural gas 31,277 26,446 89,372 55,820 
Depreciation and amortization – other 1,758 1,217 4,551 3,225 
General and administrative 5,360 5,799 15,265 19,447 

Total operating expenses 91,645 120,908 277,202 300,952 
Income from operations 83,744 174,836 257,281 398,221 

Other (expense) income
Interest expense (2,054) (1,317) (5,843) (3,193)
Other (expense) income, net 1,795 (1,299) 1,550 (178)

Total other expense (259) (2,616) (4,293) (3,371)
Net income $ 83,485 $ 172,220 $ 252,988 $ 394,850 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BCE-MACH III LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS’ EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

Total Members’
Equity

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 593,230 
Net income 91,694 
Distributions (59,000)
Equity compensation 647 
Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 626,571 

Net income 77,809 
Distributions (15,500)
Equity compensation 647 
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 689,527 

Net income 83,485 
Distributions (26,850)
Contributions 20,000 
Equity compensation 647 
Balance at September 30, 2023 $ 766,809 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 278,699 
Net income 68,625 
Equity compensation 1,882 
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 349,206 

Net income 154,005 
Distributions (91,337)
Contributions 65,000 
Equity compensation 1,882 
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 478,756 

Net income 172,220 
Distributions (88,500)
Equity compensation 1,882 
Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 564,358 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BCE-MACH III LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 252,988 $ 394,850 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 93,923 59,045 
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments (10,842) 74,577 
Cash receipts (payments) on settlement of derivative contracts, net 5,207 (85,507)
Debt issuance costs amortization 232 280 
Settlement of contingent consideration — (12,925)
Equity based compensation 1,941 5,646 
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (1) 22 
Settlement of asset retirement obligations (445) (49)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (decreasing) increasing cash:
Accounts receivable, inventories, other assets 35,334 (63,338)
Revenue payable 6,394 14,258 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,764) 11,443 

Net cash provided by operating activities 381,967 398,302 

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures for oil and natural gas properties (251,538) (160,557)
Capital expenditures for other property and equipment (9,083) (6,835)
Acquisition of assets (20,613) (91,282)
Acquisition of assets – related party — (37,242)
Proceeds from sales of oil and natural gas properties 3,305 3,429 
Proceeds from sales of other property and equipment 36 18 

Net cash used in investing activities (277,893) (292,469)

Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions to members (101,350) (179,836)
Payment of other financing fees (404) — 
Proceeds from long-term debt 7,000 — 
Repayments of borrowings — (900)
Contributions from members 20,000 65,000 

Net cash used in financing activities (74,754) (115,736)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29,320 (9,903)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 29,417 59,272 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 58,737 $ 49,369 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BCE-MACH III LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. Organization and Nature of Business

BCE-Mach III LLC (“the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our,”) was formed on December 28, 2019 as a limited liability company under the laws of the State of Delaware. On
December 28, 2019, the Company entered into a limited liability company agreement (the “LLC agreement”) with its initial member. The LLC agreement was amended and
restated on March 25, 2021 to allow additional equity to be issued to certain employees of the Company. The Company wholly owns one subsidiary, BCE-Mach III Midstream
Holdings LLC. On April 9, 2020, the Company closed on an acquisition and operations subsequently began for the Company. The Company owns and operates producing wells
and undeveloped acreage primarily in Oklahoma and Texas. The Company also owns gas gathering lines, gas processing facilities, and saltwater disposal facilities.

Mach Natural Resources LP (“MNR”) is a Delaware limited partnership that was formed for the purpose of effectuating MNR’s initial public offering (the “Offering”)
that closed in October 2023. The operations of MNR are governed by the provisions of the partnership agreement, executed by the general partner, Mach Natural Resources GP
LLC (the “General Partner”) and the limited partners. The General Partner is managed and operated by the board of directors and executive officers of the General Partner. The
members of the board of directors of the General Partner are appointed by the members of the General Partner, BCE-Mach Aggregator and Mach Resources in proportion to
their respective limited partnership ownership in MNR.

Following the Offering and the transactions related thereto, MNR became a holding partnership whose sole material assets consist of membership interests in Mach
Natural Resources Intermediate LLC (“Intermediate”), who wholly owns Mach Natural Resources Holdco LLC (“Holdco”). Holdco wholly owns each of MNR’s three
operating subsidiaries which operate MNR’s assets, BCE-Mach LLC, BCE-Mach II LLC and BCE-Mach III LLC (collectively, the “Mach Companies”). BCE-Mach III LLC is
the accounting predecessor to MNR for all periods prior to the Offering as discussed herein.

Initial Public Offering

On October 27, 2023, MNR completed the Offering of 10,000,000 common units at a price of $19.00 per unit to the public. The sale of MNR’s common units resulted in
gross proceeds of $190.0 million to MNR and net proceeds of $170.0 million, after deducting underwriting fees and offering expenses. The material terms of the Offering are
described in MNR’s final prospectus, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on October 26, 2023, pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).

MNR used $103.7 million of the proceeds to pay down the existing credit facilities of its operating subsidiaries (the “Existing Credit Facilities”) and $66.3 million of the
proceeds to purchase 3,750,000 common units from the existing common unit owners on a pro rata basis. After giving effect to the Offering and the transactions related thereto,
MNR had 95,000,000 common units issued and outstanding.

Corporate Reorganization

On October 25, 2023, MNR underwent a corporate reorganization (“Corporate Reorganization”) whereby (a) the Existing Owners who directly held membership interests
in the Mach Companies contributed 100% of their membership interests in the Mach Companies for a pro rata allocation of 100% of the limited partner interests in MNR to
effectuate a merger of such entities into MNR with BCE-Mach III determined as the accounting acquirer, (b) MNR contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach
Companies to Intermediate in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in Intermediate, and (c) Intermediate contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach
Companies to Holdco in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in Holdco.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited consolidated financial statements included herein were prepared from records of the Company in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States (“US GAAP”) and include accounts of our wholly owned subsidiary. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.
These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for
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BCE-MACH III LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

the year ended December 31, 2022, as included in MNR’s final prospectus, dated October 24, 2023, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) of the Securities Act. Results
for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2023. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting
primarily of normal recurring accruals that are considered necessary for a fair statement of the financial information, have been included.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Although management believes these estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates. The Company evaluates these estimates on an
ongoing basis, using historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods the Company considers reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, actual
results may differ significantly from the Company’s estimates. Any effects on the Company’s business, financial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to
these estimates are recorded in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become known.

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves and related present value
estimates of future net cash flows therefrom, the fair value determination of acquired assets and liabilities, equity-based compensation, the fair value of contingent consideration,
and the fair value estimates of commodity derivatives.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents for purposes of the financial statements. The
Company maintains cash at financial institutions which may at times exceed federally insured amounts. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and
believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk in this area.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of receivables from joint interest owners on properties the Company operates and from sales of oil and natural gas production delivered to
purchasers. The purchasers remit payment for production directly to the Company. Most payments for production are received within three months after the production date.

Accounts receivable are stated at amounts due from joint interest owners or purchasers, net of an allowance for credit losses when the Company believes collection is
doubtful. The Company extends credit to joint interest owners and generally does not require collateral. For receivables from joint interest owners, the Company typically has
the ability to withhold future revenue disbursements to recover any non-payment of joint interest billings. Accounts receivable outstanding longer than the contractual payment
terms are considered past due. The Company determines its allowance by considering a number of factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due, the
Company’s previous loss history, the debtor’s current ability to pay its obligation to the Company, the condition of the general economy and the industry as a whole. The
Company writes off specific accounts receivable when they become uncollectible, and payments subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance for
credit losses. At September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s allowance for credit losses was not material.

Derivative Instruments

The Company is required to recognize its derivative instruments on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value with such amounts classified as current or long-
term based on their anticipated settlement dates. The accounting for the changes in fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and resulting
designation. The Company has not designated its derivative instruments as hedges for accounting purposes and, as a result, marks its derivative instruments to fair value and
recognizes the cash and non-cash change in fair value on derivative instruments in the statement of operations.

6



Table of Contents

BCE-MACH III LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Oil and Natural Gas Operations

The Company uses the full cost method of accounting for its exploration and development activities. Under this method of accounting, costs of both successful and
unsuccessful exploration and development activities are capitalized as proved oil and natural gas properties. This includes any internal costs that are directly related to
exploration and development activities, but does not include any costs related to production, general corporate overhead or similar activities, which are expensed as incurred.
Capitalized costs are depreciated using the unit-of production method. Under this method, depletion is computed at the end of each period by multiplying total production for
the period by a depletion rate. The depletion rate is determined by dividing the total unamortized cost base plus future development costs by a net equivalent proved reserves at
the beginning of the period. The average depletion rate per barrel equivalent unit of production was $6.52 and $4.72 for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The average depletion rate per barrel equivalent unit of production was $6.64 and $5.79 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense for oil and natural gas properties was $86.1 million and $53.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense for oil and natural gas properties was $30.2 million and $25.5 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Under the full cost method, capitalized costs of oil and gas properties, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization, may not exceed the full cost “ceiling”
at the end of each reporting period. The ceiling is calculated based on the present value of estimated future net cash flows from proved oil and gas reserves, discounted at 10%.
The estimated future net revenues exclude future cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations included in the net book value of oil and gas properties.
Estimated future net cash flows are calculated using the preceding 12-months’ average price based on closing prices on the first day of each month. The net book value is
compared to the ceiling limitation on a quarterly basis. The excess, if any, of the net book value above the ceiling limitation is charged to expense in the period in which it occurs
and is not subsequently reinstated. The ceiling limitation computation is determined without regard to income taxes due to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) recognition of
the Company as a flow-through entity. No impairments on proved oil and natural gas properties were recorded for the three or nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Costs associated with unevaluated properties are excluded from the full cost pool until the Company has made a determination as to the existence of proved reserves. The
Company assesses all items classified as unevaluated property on a quarterly basis for possible impairment. The Company assesses properties on an individual basis or as a
group if properties are individually insignificant. The assessment includes consideration of the following factors, among others: intent to drill; remaining lease term; geological
and geophysical evaluations; drilling results and activity; the assignment of proved reserves; and the economic viability of development if proved reserves are assigned. As of
September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the Company had no properties excluded from the full cost pool. During any period in which these factors indicate an impairment,
the cumulative drilling costs incurred to date for such property and all or a portion of the associated leasehold costs are transferred to the full cost pool and are then subject to
amortization.

Sales of oil and natural gas properties being amortized are accounted for as adjustments to the full cost pool, with no gain or loss recognized, unless the adjustments would
significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids (“NGL”) reserves. A significant alteration would not ordinarily
be expected to occur upon the sale of reserves involving less than 25% of the proved reserve quantities of a cost center.

Other Property and Equipment, Net

Other property and equipment primarily consists of a gathering system, processing plant, and salt water disposal system. Property and equipment are capitalized and
recorded at cost, while maintenance and repairs are expensed. Depreciation of such property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which range from 4 to 37 years. Depreciation expense for other property and equipment was $4.6 million and $3.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Depreciation expense for other property and equipment was $1.8 million and $1.2 million for the three months ended September 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Impairment losses are recorded on property and equipment used in operations and other long-lived assets held and used when indicators of impairment are present and the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. Impairment is measured based on the excess of the carrying amount
over the fair
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value of the asset. No impairment of other property and equipment was recorded for the three or nine months ended September 30, 2023 or 2022.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and consist of production and midstream equipment not placed in service as of September 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022. The Company’s production equipment is primarily comprised of oil and natural gas drilling or repair items such as tubing, casing and pumping units, as
well as pipe for midstream operations.

Debt Issuance Costs

Other assets include capitalized costs related to the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility of $1.4 million, net of accumulated amortization of $1.1 million as of September 30,
2023. As of December 31, 2022, other assets include capitalized costs related to the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility of $1.0 million, net of accumulated amortization of $0.8
million. These costs are being amortized over the term of the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility and are reported as interest expense on the Company’s statement of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company operated as a limited liability company taxed as a partnership, with any associated tax liability being the responsibility of the individual members.
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes was made in the consolidated financial statements.

Limited liability companies are subject to state income taxes in the state of Texas. Due to immateriality, income taxes related to the Texas margin tax have been included
in general and administrative expenses on the statement of operations and no deferred tax amounts were calculated. The Company has not recognized any potential interest or
penalties in its financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The Company’s tax years 2022, 2021, and 2020 remain open for examination by state
authorities.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records the fair value of the future legal liability for an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) in the period in which the liability is incurred (at the time the
wells are drilled or acquired), with the offsetting increase to property cost. These property costs are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis within the full cost pool. The
liability accretes each period until it is settled or the well is sold, at which time the liability is satisfied.

The Company estimates a fair value of the obligation on each well in which it owns an interest by identifying costs associated with the future downhole plugging,
dismantlement and removal of production equipment and facilities, and the restoration and reclamation of a field’s surface to a condition similar to that existing before oil and
natural gas extraction or salt water disposal began.

In general, the amount of ARO and the costs capitalized will be equal to the estimated future cost to satisfy the abandonment obligation using current prices that are
escalated by an assumed inflation factor up to the estimated settlement date, which is then discounted back to the date that the abandonment obligation was incurred using an
estimated credit adjusted rate. If the estimated ARO changes materially, an adjustment is recorded to both the ARO and the long-lived asset. Revisions to estimated AROs can
result from changes in retirement cost estimates, revisions to estimated inflation rates and
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changes in the estimated timing of abandonment. The following is a reconciliation of ARO for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

September 30,
2023

September 30,
2022

Asset retirement obligation at beginning of period $ 52,359 $ 25,620 
Liabilities assumed in acquisitions 214 18,397 
Liabilities incurred 284 1,310 
Liabilities settled (479) (9)
Liabilities revised 313 141 
Accretion expense 3,282 2,518 
Asset retirement obligation at end of period $ 55,973 $ 47,977 

Revenue Recognition

Sales of oil, natural gas and NGL are recognized when production is sold to a purchaser at a fixed or determinable price, delivery has occurred, control has transferred and
collectability of the revenue is probable. The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time. This occurs when control is transferred to the purchaser upon
delivery of contract specified production volumes at a specified point. The pricing provisions in the Company’s contracts are tied to a market index, with certain adjustments
based on, among other factors, whether a well delivers to a gathering or transmission line, the quality of the oil or natural gas and the prevailing supply and demand conditions.
As a result, the price of the oil, natural gas and NGL fluctuates to remain competitive with other available oil, natural gas and NGL supplies.

Our major market risk exposure is in the pricing applicable to our oil and natural gas production. Realized pricing is primarily driven by the prevailing worldwide price
for crude oil and spot market prices applicable to our natural gas production. Pricing for oil and natural gas production has been volatile and unpredictable for several years, and
the Company expects this volatility to continue in the future. The prices the Company receives for production depend on many factors outside of our control. See Note 8 of our
consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the Company’s management of price volatility.

Oil Sales

The Company’s oil sales contracts are structured where it delivers oil to the purchasers at the wellhead, where the purchaser takes custody, title and risk of loss of the
product. Under this arrangement, the Company recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the delivery point based on the price received from the purchaser.
Oil revenues are recorded net of any third-party transportation fees and other applicable differentials in the Company’s statement of operations.

Natural Gas and NGL Sales

Under the Company’s natural gas and NGL sales contracts, it first delivers wet natural gas to a midstream processing entity. After processing, the residue gas is
transported to the purchaser at the inlet to certain natural gas pipelines, where the purchaser takes control, title and risk of loss of the product. The NGL is delivered to the
purchaser at the tailgate of the midstream processing plant, where the purchaser takes control, title and risk of loss of the product. For both natural gas sales and NGL sales, the
Company evaluates whether it is the principal or the agent in the transaction. For those contracts where the Company has concluded it is the principal and the ultimate third
party is its customer, the Company recognizes revenue on a gross basis, with gathering and processing fees presented as an expense in its statement of operations.

Midstream Revenue and Product Sales

The Company’s gathering and processing revenue is generated from owned gathering and compression systems and processing plants acquired in the Company’s
acquisitions. The Company charges a gathering, compression, processing rate per MMBtu transported through the gathering system and processing plant. The Company also
gathers and disposes of salt water from producing wells through an owned pipeline system and disposal wells. The Company charges a fixed rate per barrel for disposal.
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Product sales are generated from the Company’s sale of natural gas, oil and NGL production purchased from third parties and subsequently gathered and processed
through the Company’s owned midstream facilities. Product sales includes activity from certain third-party percent-of-proceeds contracts where the Company keeps a
contractually based percentage of proceeds from the sale of natural gas and NGL production, as payment for processing natural gas from the third parties. The costs of buying
natural gas, oil and NGL production from third party shippers are included as costs of product sales on the statement of operations.

Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

For the Company’s product sales that are short-term in nature with a contract term of one year or less, the Company has utilized the practical expedient that exempts it
from disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration
of one year or less. For the Company’s product sales that have a contract term greater than one year, the Company has utilized the practical expedient, which states that a
company is not required to disclose the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied
performance obligation. Each unit of product delivered to the customer represents a separate performance obligation; therefore, future volumes are wholly unsatisfied and
disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is not required.

Prior-Period Performance Obligations

The Company records revenue in the month production is delivered and control passes to the customer. However, settlement statements and payment may not be received
for 30 to 90 days after the date production occurs, and as a result, the Company is required to estimate the amount of production that was delivered and the price that will be
received for the sale of the product. The Company records variances between its estimates and actual amounts received in the month payment is received and such variances
have historically not been significant.

Concentrations

The Company is subject to risk resulting from the concentration of its crude oil and natural gas sales and receivables with several significant purchasers. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2023, three purchasers each accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue: Phillips 66 Company (53.6%); NextEra Energy
Marketing, LLC (13.2%); and ONEOK, INC. (10.7%). For the three months ended September 30, 2023, one purchaser accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s
revenue: Phillips 66 Company (60.2%). For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, three purchasers each accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue: Hinkle
Oil and Gas Inc. (30.3%); Phillips 66 Company (18.5%); and NextEra Energy Marketing, LLC (16.7%). For the three months ended September 30, 2022, three purchasers each
accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue: Hinkle Oil and Gas Inc. (33.6%); NextEra Energy Marketing, LLC (17.2%); and Phillips 66 Company (16.1%).The
Company’s receivables as of September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, from oil and gas sales are concentrated with the same counterparties noted above. The Company
does not believe the loss of any single purchaser would materially impact its operating results, as crude oil and natural gas are fungible products with well-established markets
and numerous purchasers.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had one customer that represented approximately 45% of our total joint interest receivables. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company had one customer that represented approximately 21% of our total joint interest receivables.
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Revenue Disaggregation

The following table displays the revenue disaggregated and reconciles disaggregated revenue to the revenue reported (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:
Oil $ 112,970 $ 123,405 $ 321,056 $ 342,272 
Natural gas 36,564 104,678 106,263 234,269 
NGL 17,017 29,783 51,561 88,811 

Gross oil, natural gas, and NGL sales 166,551 257,866 478,880 665,352 
Transportation, gathering and marketing 155 565 439 1,521 

Net oil, natural gas, and NGL sales $ 166,706 $ 258,431 $ 479,319 $ 666,873 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, “Financial Instrument-Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,”
which amends reporting guidance on credit loses for certain financial instruments. The Company’s primary risk for credit losses related to its receivables from joint interest
owners in our operated oil and natural gas wells. This guidance is effective for periods after December 15, 2022, and the Company implemented it effective January 1, 2023,
with no material impacts to the financial statements.

3. Acquisitions

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on October 25, 2023, as part of the Corporate Reorganization, the Existing Owners prior to the Offering contributed all of their
equity interests in BCE-Mach LLC, BCE-Mach II LLC and BCE-Mach III LLC to MNR in exchange for 100% of the partnership interest in MNR to effectuate the acquisition.
While there was a high degree of common ownership, the Mach Companies were not under common control for financial reporting purposes. BCE-Mach III LLC has been
identified accounting acquirer of BCE-Mach and BCE-Mach II which have been accounted for as business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting under U.S.
GAAP.

The following table presents the fair value of consideration transferred by MNR as a result of the acquisitions (amounts in thousands, except share amounts):

BCE-Mach LLC BCE-Mach II LLC
MNR common units issued for acquisition 7,765,625 4,215,625 
Offering price of common units $ 19.00 $ 19.00 
Total acquisition consideration $ 147,547 $ 80,097 

The table below reflects the preliminary fair value estimates of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. While the preliminary purchase price
allocation is substantially complete as of the date of this filing, there may be further adjustments to MNR’s oil and natural gas properties. These amounts will be finalized within
the
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measurement period of the acquisition which will be no later than one year from the acquisition date. Below is a reconciliation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in
thousands):

BCE-Mach LLC BCE-Mach II LLC
Assets acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 25,370 $ 9,127 
Accounts receivable 32,573 11,312 
Other current assets 16,605 2,236 
Proved oil and natural gas properties, net of ARO 174,915 87,991 
Other long-term assets 12,381 7,655 

Total assets to be acquired 261,844 118,321 

Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16,900 4,192 
Revenue payable 28,808 15,370 
Other current liabilities 1,754 450 
Long-term debt 65,000 17,100 
Other long-term liabilities 1,835 1,112 

Total liabilities assumed 114,297 38,224 

Net assets acquired $ 147,547 $ 80,097 

Proved properties were valued using an income approach based on underlying reserves projections as of the acquisition date. The income approach is considered a Level
3 fair value estimate and includes significant assumptions of future production, commodity prices, operating and capital cost estimates, the weighted average cost of capital for
industry peers, which represents the discount factor, and risk adjustment factors based on reserve category. Price assumptions were based on observable market pricing, adjusted
for historical differentials, while cost estimates were based on current observable costs inflated based on historical and expected future inflation.

The following table summarizes the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information of the Company as if the acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2022 (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Total revenues $ 216,761 $ 376,178 $ 670,017 $ 891,705 
Net income $ 91,704 $ 210,916 $ 281,978 $ 477,441 

The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have occurred had the acquisition been completed on
January 1, 2022 and is not necessarily indicative of future results of operations of the combined company. The unaudited pro forma financial information gives effect to the
acquisition as if the transactions had occurred on January 1, 2022. The unaudited pro forma financial information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022 is a result of combining the statements of operations of the Company with the pre-acquisition results of BCE-Mach and BCE-Mach II, with pro forma adjustments for
revenues and expenses. The unaudited pro forma financial information excludes any cost savings anticipated as a result of the acquisition and the impact of any acquisition-
related costs.
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The unaudited pro forma financial information includes the following adjustments:

• For the three months ended September 30, 2023: Reduced depreciation, depletion and accretion-oil and gas of $15.0 thousand, reduced depreciation and
amortization-other of $2.2 million, and increased general and administrative expense of $0.4 million.

• For the three months ended September 30, 2022: Increased depreciation, depletion and accretion-oil and gas of $0.2 million, reduced depreciation and
amortization-other of $2.0 million, and reduced general and administrative expense of $0.9 million.

• For the nine months ended September 30, 2023: Reduced depreciation, depletion and accretion-oil and gas of $1.6 million, reduced depreciation and
amortization-other of $6.6 million, and increased general and administrative expense of $1.1 million.

• For the nine months ended September 30, 2022: Increased depreciation, depletion and accretion-oil and gas of $2.1 million, reduced depreciation and
amortization-other of $6.0 million, and reduced general and administrative expense of $2.6 million.

Management believes the estimates and assumptions are reasonable, and the effects of the acquisition are properly reflected.

On June 28, 2023 the Company executed a purchase and sale agreement with Hinkle Oil and Gas, Inc. for the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Oklahoma for
$20.0 million, subject to certain adjustments. The transaction closed on August 11, 2023. This purchase was accounted for as an asset acquisition as substantially all of the fair
value of acquired assets could be allocated to a single identified asset group of proved oil and natural gas properties.

4. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental disclosures to the statement of cash flows are presented below (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 5,326 $ 2,841 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:
Change in accrued capital expenditures $ (13,263) $ 30,475 
Asset retirement cost capitalized $ 284 $ 1,310 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ 6,449 $ 19,820 
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5. Property and Equipment

The Company’s property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Oil and natural gas properties
Proved properties $ 1,018,171 $ 749,934 
Accumulated depreciation and depletion (225,604) (139,514)

Oil and natural gas properties, net 792,567 610,420 
Other property and equipment

Gas gathering system 26,510 22,366 
Gas processing plants 34,710 33,858 
Water disposal assets 24,910 21,029 
Other assets 5,016 4,872 

Total other property and equipment 91,146 82,125 
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (13,722) (9,198)

Total other property and equipment, net $ 77,424 $ 72,927 

6. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Operating expenses $ 13,631 $ 10,198 
Capital expenditures 14,965 37,375 
Payroll costs 1,943 2,450 
Hedge settlements 1,797 898 
Severance and other tax 2,370 3,662 
Midstream shipper payable 1,280 5,157 
General, administrative, and other 788 429 

Total accrued liabilities $ 36,774 $ 60,169 

7. Long-Term Debt

On May 19, 2020, BCE-Mach III entered into a credit agreement for a revolving credit facility (the “BCE-Mach III Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of banks, including
MidFirst Bank, who served as administrative agent and issuing bank. The BCE-Mach III Credit Facility provided for a maximum of $400.0 million, subject to commitments of
$100.0 million as of September 30, 2023, and matured in May 2026. Outstanding obligations under the credit facility were secured by substantially all of the BCE-Mach III
assets. The amount available to be borrowed under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility was subject to a borrowing base that was redetermined semiannually, each May and
November, in an amount determined by the lenders. As of September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, there was $91.9 million and $84.9 million, respectively, outstanding
under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility, and the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants. The effective interest rate as of September 30, 2023, and December 31,
2022, was 8.7% and 7.7%, respectively. On November 10, 2023, the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility was repaid and the Existing Credit Facilities were terminated.

New Credit Facility

On November 10, 2023, Holdco entered into a new revolving credit facility (the “New Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of banks, including MidFirst Bank who serves as
sole book runner and lead arranger. Outstanding obligations under the New Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of Holdco’s assets. In connection with the New Credit
Facility, each of the Existing Credit Facilities were terminated.
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The aggregate principal amount of loans outstanding under the New Credit Facility as of November 10, 2023 was $130 million (which includes $5 million of issued
letters of credit). The New Credit Facility provides for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate maximum amount of $1.0 billion, with an initial borrowing base of
$600.0 million, subject to commitments of $200.0 million. The amount available to be borrowed under the credit facility is subject to a borrowing base that is redetermined
semiannually each May and November in an amount determined by the lenders. Certain key terms and conditions under the New Credit Facility include (but are not limited to):

•  A maturity date of November 10, 2027;

• The loans shall bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the Term SOFR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin ranges from 3% to 4% depending on the
amount of loans and letters of credit outstanding;

• The unused commitments under the New Credit Facility will accrue a commitment fee, payable quarterly in arrears;

• Certain customary financial covenants, in each case that are determined as of the last day of each fiscal quarter commencing with the fiscal quarter ending December 31,
2023; and cash available for distribution; and

• Certain events of default, including, without limitation: non-payment; breaches of representations and warranties; non-compliance with covenants or other agreements;
cross-default to material indebtedness; judgments; change of control; and voluntary and involuntary bankruptcy.

The New Credit Facility includes certain customary restrictions on the ability of MNR and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant
additional liens and make investments, acquisitions, dispositions, distributions and other payments with certain exceptions as more specifically described in the New Credit
Facility.

The New Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, then, among other things, the lenders may declare any
outstanding obligations under the New Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable and exercise their rights and remedies against the collateral. The obligations under the
New Credit Facility are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of MNR’s assets (subject to permitted liens).

8. Derivative Contracts

The Company uses derivative contracts to reduce exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices. These transactions are in the form of fixed price swaps. While the use of
these instruments limits the downside risk of adverse price changes, their use may also limit future revenues from favorable price changes. The Company does not intend to hold
or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes and has elected not to designate any of its derivative instruments for hedge accounting treatment.

Under fixed price swap contracts, the Company receives a fixed price for the contract and pays a floating market price to the counterparty over a specified period for a
contracted volume. The fixed-price payment and the floating-price payment are netted, resulting in a net amount due to or from the counterparty.

The Company reports the fair value of derivatives on the balance sheet in derivative contracts assets and derivative contracts liabilities as either current or noncurrent
based on the timing of expected future cash flows of individual trades. See Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding fair value
measurements.

The following table summarizes the open financial derivative positions as of September 30, 2023, related to oil production:

Period
Volume 
(Mbbl)

Weighted 
Average 

Fixed Price
October 2023 – December 2023 700 $ 82.81 
January 2024 – June 2024 508 $ 83.61 

As of September 30, 2023, the Company has no natural gas volumes hedged due to offsetting swap positions of equal volumes.
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Balance Sheet Presentation.    The Company has master netting agreements with all of its derivative counterparties and presents its derivative assets and liabilities with
the same counterparty on a net basis on the balance sheet. The following table presents the gross amounts of recognized derivative liabilities, the amounts that are subject to
offsetting under master netting arrangements and the net recorded fair values as recognized on the balance sheet (in thousands):

September 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Derivative contracts – current, gross $ 3,547 $ 10,080 
Netting arrangements — — 

Derivative contracts – current liabilities, net $ 3,547 $ 10,080 

There were no recognized derivative assets at September 30, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

Gains and Losses.    The following table presents the settlement and mark-to-market (“MTM”) gains and losses presented as a gain or loss on derivatives in the statement
of operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Settlements on derivatives $ (3,222) $ (26,583) $ 4,308 $ (82,705)
MTM gains (losses) on derivatives, net (1,678) 24,863 6,534 8,128 

Total gains (losses) on derivative contracts $ (4,900) $ (1,720) $ 10,842 $ (74,577)

The following table presents the gains and losses recognized on oil and natural gas derivatives in the accompanying statement of operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Oil derivatives $ (5,759) $ 15,063 $ (1,852) $ (27,581)
Natural gas derivatives 859 (16,783) 12,694 (46,996)

Total gains (losses) on derivative contracts, net $ (4,900) $ (1,720) $ 10,842 $ (74,577)

9. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurement is established by a hierarchy of inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of
unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions of what
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy is broken down into three
levels based on the reliability of the inputs as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices are available in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or observable inputs for assets or liabilities in non-active markets.

Level 3 — Measurement based on prices or valuation models that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and less observable from objective
sources.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, which may affect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and
their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.
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Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Derivative Contracts.    The Company determines the fair value of its derivative contracts using industry standard models that consider various assumptions including
current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, time value, and nonperformance risk. Substantially all of these inputs are observable in the marketplace
throughout the full term of the contract and can be supported by observable data.

Contingent Overriding Royalty Interest.    On January 15, 2020, the Company executed a purchase and sale agreement with Alta Mesa Holdings, LP (“AMH”) for the sale
of certain oil and gas assets in Oklahoma and Kingfisher Midstream LLC (“KFM”) for the sale of midstream gathering and processing assets that primarily service the AMH oil
and gas assets (the “AMH Acquisition”). On April 2, 2020, the Company entered into the first amendment to the purchase and sale agreement with AMH and KFM. As part of
the first amendment to the purchase and sale agreement, consideration of a 5% contingent overriding royalty interest (“the ORRI”) was reserved when certain conditions
regarding the market price of oil are met. There was a maximum consideration payable of $25 million related to the ORRI, and the ORRI will be terminated at the earlier of $25
million paid out or three years from the date of the acquisition. Payments relating to this liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, were $12.9 million. During the
year ending December 31, 2022, the Company reached the maximum consideration of $25 million, therefore no liability remains in relation to the ORRI.

The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022 (in thousands).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
As of September 30, 2023
Liabilities:

Derivative Instruments $ — $ 3,547 $ — $ 3,547 
As of December 31, 2022
Liabilities:

Derivative Instruments $ — $ 10,080 $ — $ 10,080 

Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

The Company determines the initial estimated fair value of its asset retirement obligations by calculating the present value of estimated cash flows related to plugging and
abandonment liabilities using level 3 inputs. The significant inputs used to calculate such liabilities include estimates of costs to be incurred, the Company’s credit adjusted
discount rates, inflation rates and estimated dates of abandonment. The asset retirement liability is accreted to its present value each period and the capitalized asset retirement
cost is depleted with proved oil and natural gas properties using the unit of production method.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, revenue payable, accrued interest payable, and other current
liabilities approximate fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The carrying amount of the New Credit Facility approximates fair value, as the current borrowing base rate does not materially differ from market rates of similar
borrowings.

10. Equity Compensation and Deferred Compensation Plan

As part of the Company’s Amended and Restated LLC Agreement as of March 25, 2021, incentive units (“Class B Units”) were issued to certain employees as
compensation for services to be rendered to the Company. In determining the appropriate accounting treatment, the Company considered the characteristics of the awards in
terms of treatment as stock-based compensation. US GAAP generally requires that all equity awards granted to employees be accounted for at fair value and recognized as
compensation cost over the vesting period.

The incentive units are subject to graded vesting over a period of 3 or 4 years (subject to accelerated vesting, as defined by the incentive unit agreement) and a holder of
incentive units forfeits unvested incentive units upon ceasing to be
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an employee of the Company, excluding limited exceptions. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur. Holders of incentive units participate in distributions upon the
Company meeting a certain requisite financial internal rate of return threshold as defined in the amended LLC agreement.

Determination of the fair value of the awards requires judgements and estimates regarding, among other things, the appropriate methodologies to follow in valuing the
award and the related inputs required by those valuation methodologies. For awards granted for the year ended December 31, 2021, the fair value underlying the compensation
expense was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following primary assumptions:

• expected volatility based on the historical volatilities of similar sized companies that most closely represent the Company’s business of 53%;

• 7 year expected term determined by management based on experience with similarly organized company and expectation of a future sale of the business; and

• a risk-free rate based on a U.S Treasury yield curve of 1.40%.

On March 25, 2021, all 20,000 authorized incentive units were granted. Total non-cash compensation cost related to the incentive units was $1.9 million and $5.6 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively, and $0.6 million and $1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, and 2022,
respectively. As of September 30, 2023, there was $0.7 million in unrecognized compensation cost related to incentive units.

A summary of the incentive unit awards as of September 30, 2023, and 2022 is as follows:

Class B Units

Weighted Average
 Grant Date 
 Fair Value

Unvested at December 31, 2021 10,333 $ 2,378.80 
Vested (3,665) $ 2,378.80 
Unvested at September 30, 2022 6,668 $ 2,378.80 

Unvested at December 31, 2022 6,668 $ 2,378.80 
Vested (3,667) $ 2,378.80 
Unvested at September 30, 2023 3,001 $ 2,378.80 

On October 25, 2023, all unvested Class B Units immediately vested and were exchanged for common units in MNR as part of the Corporate Reorganization. All
unrecognized compensation costs were expensed upon the vesting of the Class B Units.

On October 27, 2023, and in connection with the closing of the Offering, MNR adopted a new long-term incentive plan for employees, consultants and directors in
connection with the Offering and issued approximately 715,000 phantom units to employees and directors. The phantom unit awards for all employees vest annually (1/3 per
year) on the first three anniversaries of the date of the grant, subject to the employee’s continued employment. Within 60 days of the vesting of a phantom unit, the employee
will receive a common unit of MNR. Each phantom unit was granted with a corresponding distribution equivalent right, which entitles the participant to receive a payment equal
to the total distributions paid by MNR in respect of a common unit of MNR during the time the phantom unit is outstanding.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters.    In the ordinary course of business, the Company may at times be subject to claims and legal actions. The Company accrues liabilities when it is probable
that future costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are based on developments to date and the Company’s estimates of the outcomes of
these matters. The Company did not recognize any material liability as of September 30, 2023, or December 31, 2022. Management does not expect that the impact of such
matters will have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Matters.    The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These laws, which
are often changing, regulate the discharge of materials into the
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environment and may require the Company to remove or mitigate the environmental effects of the disposal or release of petroleum or chemical substances at various sites.

The Company accounts for environmental contingencies in accordance with the accounting guidance related to accounting for contingencies. Environmental expenditures
that relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, which do not contribute to
current or future revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or clean-ups are probable and the costs can be reasonably
estimated.

12. Leases

Nature of Leases

The Company has operating leases on an office space, various vehicles, and compressors with remaining lease durations in excess of one year. These leases have various
expiration dates throughout 2026. The vehicles are used for field operations and leased from third parties. The Company recognizes right-of-use asset and lease liability on the
balance sheet for all leases with lease terms of greater than one year. Short-term leases that have an initial term of one year or less are not capitalized.

Discount Rate

As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses the U.S. 5 Year Treasury Rate in determining the present value of lease payments.
Minor changes to the discount rate do not have a material impact to the calculation of the liability, therefore the Company will use this for all asset classes.

Future amounts due under operating lease liabilities as of September 30, 2023, were as follows (in thousands):

Remaining 2023 $ 3,530 
2024 6,402 
2025 1,733 
2026 628 
2027 182 

Total lease payments $ 12,475 
Less: imputed interest (359)

Total $ 12,116 

The following table summarizes our total lease costs before amounts are recovered from our joint interest partners, where applicable, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 3,429 $ 2,413 $ 10,047 $ 5,054 
Short-term lease cost 2,600 1,745 7,744 7,297 

Total lease cost $ 6,029 $ 4,158 $ 17,791 $ 12,351 

The weighted-average remaining lease term as of September 30, 2023, was 1.52 years. The weighted-average discount rate used to determine the operating lease liability
as of September 30, 2023, was 4.0%.

13. Members’ Equity

The Company was formed with one member, BCE-Mach Holdings III LLC. Upon formation, the Company consisted of one class of common interests, that were all
owned by the member. An amended and restated LLC agreement was executed on February 18, 2020, replacing BCE-Mach Holdings III LLC with BCE-Mach Intermediate
Holdings III LLC as the sole initial member. Contributions from the member were $150.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. On March 25, 2021, per the amended
and restated LLC agreement and the Class A-2 Issuance Agreement, the Company issued 150,000 Class A-1 Units to the initial member, and 1,349 Class A-2 Units to an
employee of Mach Resources for service
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performed for the Company. Additionally, Class A-2 Units were granted to the employee on a quarterly basis throughout 2021. As of September 30, 2023, there were 3,504 total
Class A-2 Units issued to the employee, which have substantially all the same rights as the initial member. In 2022, the Class A-2 Issuance Agreement was updated and there
are no additional units being granted to the employee. As part of a long-term incentive plan for certain employees, 20,000 Class B Units were outstanding as of September 30,
2023. The Class B Units represent a non-voting interest in the Company that allows the holder to participate in distributions once the Company’s Class A shares have met a
certain requisite financial internal rate of return in accordance with the LLC agreement. On October 25, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Corporate Reorganization,
the Class B Units were exchanged for common units in the Company.

Distributions to the members were $101.4 million and $179.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Contributions from the
members were $20.0 million and $65.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

14. Related Parties

Management Services Agreement.    Upon formation of BCE-Mach III, BCE-Mach III entered into a management services agreement (“Original MSA”) with Mach
Resources. Under the Original MSA, Mach Resources managed and performed all aspects of oil and gas operations and other general and administrative functions for BCE-
Mach III. On a monthly basis, BCE-Mach III distributed funding to Mach Resources for performance under the Original MSA. During the nine months ended September 30,
2023, BCE-Mach III paid Mach Resources $35.0 million, which was inclusive of $3.2 million in management fees. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, BCE-
Mach III paid Mach Resources $27.0 million, which was inclusive of $1.5 million in management fees. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, BCE-Mach III paid
Mach Resources $13.9 million, which was inclusive of $1.1 million in management fees. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, BCE-Mach III paid Mach
Resources $11.3 million, which was inclusive of $0.5 million in management fees. As of September 30, 2023, BCE-Mach III has $1.4 million in prepaid assets with Mach
Resources. As of December 31, 2022, BCE-Mach III owed $0.4 million to Mach Resources. On October 27, 2023, and in connection with the closing of the Offering, MNR
entered into a new management services agreement with Mach Resources and terminated the Original MSA.

Contribution Agreement.    On October 25, 2023, MNR entered into a contribution agreement that effected the Corporate Reorganization.

BCE-Stack Development LLC.    BCE-Stack Development LLC (“BCE-Stack”) is an affiliate of the member, and previously was an owner of working and revenue
interests in a subset of the Company’s wells. BCE-Stack sold their interests in the wells to the Company on February 28, 2022. Cash paid for the properties was $37.4 million.

BCE-Mach LLC and BCE-Mach II LLC.    BCE-Mach LLC and BCE-Mach II LLC are two related parties that also entered into a management services agreement with
Mach Resources. These entities have shared ownership with the Company and operate primarily in different geographical locations than the Company. As of September 30,
2023, the Company owed these entities $0.8 million included in accounts payable. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had receivables from these related parties of
approximately $0.7 million included in accounts receivable-joint interest and other.

15. Subsequent Events

Initial Public Offering and Corporate Reorganization

On October 27, 2023, MNR completed the Offering and related reorganization transactions, as discussed in Note 1 of our consolidated financial statements.

Paloma Acquisition

On November 10, 2023, MNR signed an agreement with Paloma Partners IV, LLC, to acquire certain interests in oil and gas properties, rights, and related assets located
in Oklahoma for total cash consideration of $815.0 million, subject to customary closing adjustments. The acquisition is expected to close in December 2023, with funding
provided by new debt financing in the form of a $825.0 million senior secured term loan.
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New Credit Facility

On November 10, 2023, Holdco entered into the New Credit Facility with MidFirst Bank and the Existing Credit Facilities were terminated, as discussed in Note 7 of
our consolidated financial statements.

Derivative contracts

Subsequent to September 30, 2023 the Company entered into the following derivative contracts:

Period Volume 

Weighted 
Average 

Fixed Price
Oil Mbbl
2024 1,140 $ 73.95 
2025 1,130 $ 71.80 
Natural Gas Mmbtu
2024 23,320 $ 3.34 
2025 18,410 $ 4.08 
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Part I, Item I of

this Report. The following discussion contains forward looking statements that reflect our future plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations. We caution that assumptions,
expectations, projections, intentions or beliefs about future events may vary materially from actual results. Some of the key factors that could cause actual results to vary from
expectations include those factors discussed below and elsewhere in this Report, all of which are difficult to predict. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the
forward-looking events discussed may not occur. See the section entitled “Cautionary Statement Regard Forward-Looking Statements” elsewhere in this Report and “Risk
Factors” in the Company’s Final Prospectus for further information on items that could impact our future operating performance or financial condition. We do not undertake
any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements except as otherwise required by applicable law. Unless otherwise indicated, the historical financial
information as of September 30, 2023 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 presented in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” speaks only with respect to BCE-Mach III and does not give pro forma effect to our corporate reorganization described in “—Factors
Affecting the Comparability of Our Future Result of Operations to Our Historical Results of Operations—Corporate Reorganization.”

Investors are cautioned that the forward-looking statements contained in this section and other parts of this Report involve both risk and uncertainty. Several important
factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by these statements. Many of these statements are macroeconomic in nature and are, therefore,
beyond the control of management. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above and the Registration Statement.

Overview

We are an independent upstream oil and gas company focused on the acquisition, development and production of oil, natural gas and NGL reserves in the Anadarko
Basin region of Western Oklahoma, Southern Kansas and the panhandle of Texas. Our assets are located throughout Western Oklahoma, Southern Kansas and the panhandle of
Texas.

Within our operating areas, our assets are prospective for multiple formations, most notably the Oswego and Meramec/Osage formations. Our experience in the Anadarko
Basin and these formations allows us to generate significant cash available for distribution from these low declining assets in a variety of commodity price environments. We
also own an extensive portfolio of complementary midstream assets that are integrated with our upstream operations. These assets include gathering systems, processing plants
and water infrastructure. Our midstream assets enhance the value of our properties by allowing us to optimize pricing, increase flow assurance and eliminate third-party costs
and inefficiencies. In addition, our owned midstream systems generate third-party revenue.

Market Outlook

Our financial results depend on many factors, particularly commodity prices and our ability to find, develop and market our production on economically attractive terms.
Commodity prices are affected by many factors outside of our control, including changes in market supply and demand. The oil and natural gas industry is cyclical and
commodity prices are highly volatile and we expect continued and increased pricing volatility in the crude oil and natural gas markets. Oil prices have been affected by
increased demand, domestic supply reductions, OPEC+ control measures and market disruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine war and sanctions on Russia. For example,
during the period from December 31, 2020 through September 30, 2023, prices for crude oil and natural gas reached a high of $123.64 per Bbl and $23.86 per MMBtu,
respectively, and a low of $47.47 per Bbl and $1.74 per MMBtu, respectively. Starting in 2022, NYMEX oil and natural gas futures prices strengthened following the reduction
of pandemic-related restrictions and increased OPEC+ cooperation. During the first quarter of 2023, the price of crude oil decreased as the global oil market saw higher
inventory levels; however, prices remained above the 10-year average from 2010 through 2019. The increase in inventory levels was followed by an early June announcement
from OPEC+ oil producers to further reduce oil output. The Energy Information Administration (“EIA”) forecasts global oil inventories to fall slightly in each of the next five
quarters and projects these draws will put upward pressure on crude oil prices, notably in late-2023 and early-2024. Also during the first quarter of 2023, natural gas prices
remained above the 10-year range, despite declining significantly in the quarter as milder weather eased demand for natural gas heating, allowing storage levels to increase
above historical averages in the United States and Europe. The EIA projects that the U.S. benchmark Henry Hub natural gas spot price to rise in the summer months due to
rising natural gas use in the electric power sector and flattening production growth, which together contribute to storage injections that are less than the five-year average from
2018 through 2022 in the coming months.

Further, although inflation in the United States had been relatively low for many years, there was a significant increase in inflation beginning in the second half of 2021,
which has continued into 2023, due to a substantial increase in
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the money supply, a stimulative fiscal policy, a significant rebound in consumer demand as COVID-19 restrictions were relaxed, the Russia-Ukraine war and worldwide supply
chain disruptions resulting from the economic contraction caused by COVID-19 and lockdowns followed by a rapid recovery. Inflation rose from 7.5% in January 2022 to a
peak of 9.1% in June 2022 and then decreased to 6.5% in December 2022. In September 2023, inflation was 3.7%. We cannot predict the future inflation rate but to the extent
inflation remains elevated, we may experience cost increases in our operations, including costs for drill rigs, workover rigs, tubulars and other well equipment, as well as
increased labor costs. We continue to evaluate actions to mitigate supply chain and inflationary pressures and work closely with other suppliers and contractors to ensure
availability of supplies on site, especially fuel, steel and chemical supplies which are critical to many of our operations. However, these mitigation efforts may not succeed or
may be insufficient. Further, if we are unable to recover higher costs through higher commodity prices, our current revenue stream, estimates of future reserves, borrowing base
calculations, impairment assessments of oil and natural gas properties, and values of properties in purchase and sale transactions would all be significantly impacted.

How We Evaluate Our Operations

We use a variety of financial and operational metrics to assess the performance of our operations, including the following sources of our revenue, principal components of
our cost structure and other financial metrics:

• production volumes;

• realized prices on the sale of oil, natural gas and NGLs;

• LOE;

• Adjusted EBITDA; and

• cash available for distribution.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

We include in this Report the supplemental non-GAAP financial performance measure Adjusted EBITDA and provide our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and a
reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, our most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. We define Adjusted
EBITDA as net income before (1) interest expense and interest income, (2) depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion, (3) unrealized (gain) loss on derivative
settlements, (4) equity-based compensation expense, and (5) (gain) loss on sale of assets.

Adjusted EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial performance measure by our management and by external users of our financial statements, such as industry
analysts, investors, lenders, rating agencies and others, to more effectively evaluate our operating performance and our results of operation from period to period and against our
peers without regard to financing methods, capital structure or historical cost basis. We exclude the items listed above from net income in arriving at Adjusted EBITDA because
these amounts can vary substantially from company to company within our industry depending upon accounting methods and book values of assets, capital structures and the
method by which the assets were acquired. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative
to, or more meaningful than, net income as determined in accordance with GAAP or as indicators of our operating performance. Certain items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA
are significant components in understanding and assessing a company’s financial performance, such as a company’s cost of capital and tax burden, as well as the historic costs
of depreciable assets, none of which are reflected in Adjusted EBITDA. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our results will be
unaffected by unusual items. Our computations of Adjusted EBITDA may not be identical to other similarly titled measures of other companies.

Cash Available for Distribution

Cash available for distribution is not a measure of net income or net cash flow provided by or used in operating activities as determined by GAAP. Cash available for
distribution is a supplemental non-GAAP financial performance measure used by our management and by external users of our financial statements, such as industry analysts,
investors, lenders, rating agencies and others, to assess our ability to internally fund our exploration and development activities, pay distributions, and to service or incur
additional debt. We define cash available for distribution as net income less (1) interest expense and interest income, (2) depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion, (3)
unrealized (gain) loss on
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derivative settlements, (4) equity-based compensation expense, (5) (gain) loss on sale of assets, (6) settlement of asset retirement obligations, (7) cash interest expense and cash
interest income, (8) development costs, (9) settlement of contingent consideration and (10) change in accrued realized derivative settlements. Development costs include all of
our capital expenditures, other than acquisitions. Cash available for distribution will not reflect changes in working capital balances. Cash available for distribution is not a
measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to, or more meaningful than, net income or net cash
provided by or used in operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP or as indicators of our financial performance and liquidity. The GAAP measures most
directly comparable to cash available for distribution are net income and net cash provided by operating activities. Cash available for distribution should not be considered as an
alternative to, or more meaningful than, net income or net cash provided by operating activities.

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Available for Distribution to GAAP Financial Measures

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

($ in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net income $ 83,485 $ 172,220 $ 252,988 $ 394,850 

Interest expense 2,054 1,317 5,843 3,193 
Interest income (387) — (881) — 
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion 33,035 27,663 93,923 59,045 
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative settlements 1,678 (24,863) (6,534) (8,128)
Equity-based compensation expense 647 1,882 1,941 5,646 
(Gain) loss on sale of assets — — (1) 22 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 120,512 $ 178,219 $ 347,279 $ 454,628 

Net income $ 83,485 $ 172,220 $ 252,988 $ 394,850 
Interest expense 2,054 1,317 5,843 3,193 
Interest income (387) — (881) — 
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion 33,035 27,663 93,923 59,045 
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative settlements 1,678 (24,863) (6,534) (8,128)
Equity-based compensation expense 647 1,882 1,941 5,646 
(Gain) loss on sale of assets — — (1) 22 
Settlement of asset retirement obligations (366) — (445) (49)
Cash interest expense (2,023) (1,223) (5,611) (2,913)
Cash interest income 387 — 881 — 
Development costs (66,052) (82,389) (258,944) (197,763)
Settlement of contingent consideration — (4,814) — (12,925)
Change in accrued realized derivative settlements 1,183 (5,168) 899 (2,802)

Cash available for distribution $ 53,641 $ 84,625 $ 84,059 $ 238,176 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 106,822 $ 170,366 $ 381,967 $ 398,302 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 12,871 (3,352) (38,964) 37,637 
Development costs (66,052) (82,389) (258,944) (197,763)

Cash available for distribution $ 53,641 $ 84,625 $ 84,059 $ 238,176 

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Future Result of Operations to Our Historical Results of Operations

Our historical financial condition and results of operations for the periods presented may not be comparable, either from period to period or going forward, for the
following reasons:
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Initial Public Offering

On October 27, 2023, MNR completed its initial public offering (the “Offering”) for in which it issued and sold 10,000,000 common units at a public offering price of
$19.00 per unit. MNR received net proceeds of $170.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses borne by us. The material terms
of the Offering are described in the Registration Statement. MNR utilized the proceeds from its initial public offering to pay down the Existing Credit Facilities of $103.7
million, as well as repurchase common units from existing holders for approximately $66.3 million. After giving effect to the Offering and the transactions related thereto,
MNR had 95,000,000 common units issued and outstanding.

Upon completion of the Offering, MNR has incurred and expects to continue incurring additional significant and recurring expenses as a publicly traded partnership,
including costs associated with the employment of additional personnel, compliance under the Securities Act and Exchange Act, annual and quarterly reports to unitholders, tax
return and Schedule K-1 preparation, independent auditor fees, investor relations activities, registrar and transfer agent fees, incremental director and officer liability insurance
costs and independent director compensation. The direct, incremental general and administrative expenses are not included in the BCE-Mach III historical financial statements.

Corporate Reorganization

On October 25, 2023, MNR underwent a corporate reorganization (“Corporate Reorganization”) whereby (a) the Existing Owners who directly held membership interests
in the Mach Companies contributed 100% of their membership interests in the Mach Companies for a pro rata allocation of 100% of the limited partner interests in MNR to
effectuate a merger of such entities into MNR with BCE-Mach III determined as the accounting acquirer, (b) MNR contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach
Companies to Intermediate in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in Intermediate, and (c) Intermediate contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach
Companies to Holdco in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in Holdco.

The unaudited financial statements of BCE-Mach III as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023
and 2022, do not include any information from BCE-Mach or BCE-Mach II. Accordingly, the financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
may not yield an accurate indication of what our actual results would have been if the Offering and the Corporate Reorganization had been completed at the beginning of the
period presented or of what our future results of operations are likely to be in the future.

Acquisitions

We completed five acquisitions between January 1, 2022 and September 30, 2023. Four of these acquisitions occurred in 2022, for a total combined purchase price of
approximately $155 million, and one occurred in 2023 with a purchase price of $20 million. In all five acquisitions, substantially all of the purchase price was allocated to
proved oil and natural gas properties. These acquisitions are reflected in our results of operations as of and after the date of completion for each such acquisition. As a result,
periods prior to each such acquisition will not contain the results of such acquired assets which will affect the comparability of our results of operations for certain historical
periods.

On January 1, 2023, we assumed operations of a significant amount of properties where we previously were a non-operating partner in the properties and provided
midstream services. As a result of these properties becoming operated properties as opposed to non-operated properties, offsetting accounting changes occurred resulting in
reduced midstream operating expense, reduced midstream revenue, increased LOE, and increased price realizations. In August 2023, we acquired the interest of this non-
operating partner for approximately $20 million.

25



Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Revenue

The following table provides the components of the Company’s revenue, net of transportation and marketing costs for the periods indicated, as well as each period’s
respective average realized prices and net production volumes. Some totals and changes throughout the below section may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
($ in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percent
Revenues:
Oil $ 113,112 $ 123,583 (10,471) (8) %
Natural gas 36,489 104,921 (68,432) (65) %
Natural gas liquids 17,105 29,927 (12,822) (43) %
Total oil, natural gas, and NGL sales 166,706 258,431 (91,725) (35) %

Gain (loss) on oil and natural gas derivatives, net (4,900) (1,720) (3,180) 185 %
Midstream revenue 6,683 12,045 (5,362) (45) %
Product sales 6,900 26,988 (20,088) (74) %
Total revenues $ 175,389 $ 295,744 $ (120,355) (41) %

Average Sales Price(1):
Oil ($/Bbl) $ 81.31 $ 92.11 $ (10.80) (12) %
Natural gas ($/Mcf) $ 2.51 $ 7.65 $ (5.14) (67) %
NGL ($/Bbl) $ 23.37 $ 39.06 $ (15.69) (40) %
Total ($/Boe) – before effects of realized derivatives $ 36.69 $ 58.81 $ (22.12) (38) %
Total ($/Boe) – after effects of realized derivatives $ 35.98 $ 52.76 $ (16.78) (32) %

Net Production Volumes:
Oil (MBbl) 1,391 1,342 49 4 %
Natural gas (MMcf) 14,527 13,718 809 6 %
NGL (MBbl) 732 766 (34) (4 %)
Total (MBoe) 4,544 4,394 150 3 %

Average daily total volumes (MBoe/d) 49.39 47.76 1.63 3 %

____________

(1) Average sales prices reflected above exclude gathering and processing expense and the separate benefit of third party midstream revenues.

Revenue and other operating income

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

 Revenues from oil, natural gas and NGL sales decreased $91.7 million, or 35% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-
month period ended September 30, 2022. This decrease was primarily a result of a 12% decrease in the average selling price on oil resulting in a decrease in oil sales revenue of
$14.5 million, a 67% decrease in the average selling price on natural gas resulting in a decrease in natural gas sales revenue of $70.5 million, and a 40% decrease on the average
selling price on NGLs resulting in a decrease in NGL sales revenue of $12.0 million. An increase in production of 150 MBoe for the three-month period ended September 30,
2023, compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022, resulted in an increase in oil, natural gas and NGL revenues of $5.2 million.
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Oil and Natural Gas Derivatives

For the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, the Company had realized losses on derivative instruments of $3.2 million and unrealized losses of $1.7 million for
total losses of $4.9 million. For the three-month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company had realized losses on derivative instruments of $26.6 million and unrealized
gains of $24.9 million for total losses of $1.7 million. The decrease in realized losses is primarily from the overall decrease in oil and gas prices in the three-month period ended
September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022.

Production

Production increased 150 MBoe, or 3% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in new production from wells that were brought on-line as a result of increased drilling activity subsequent to September 30,
2022, partially offset with natural production declines on our existing wells.

Product sales

Product sales decreased $20.1 million, or 74% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022.
This decrease was primarily a result of decreases in non-operated production resulting in lower overall product sales, compounded by the decrease in the average selling price on
natural gas and NGLs. These decreases corresponded with the decrease in our cost of product sales noted below.

Midstream revenue

Midstream revenue decreased $5.4 million, or 45% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30,
2022, primarily due to lower non-operated volumes running through our midstream facilities. Of the total decrease, $2.9 million relates to decreases in fee revenue related to
gathering and processing, and $2.5 million is due to decreased saltwater gathering and disposal revenue.

Operating expenses

The following table summarizes the Company’s expenses for the periods indicated and includes a presentation of certain expenses on a per Boe basis, as we use this
information to evaluate our performance relative to our peers and to identify and measure trends we believe may require additional analysis:

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
($ in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percent
Operating Expenses:
Gathering and processing expense $ 7,962 $ 15,147 $ (7,185) (47 %)
Lease operating expense $ 28,879 $ 28,431 $ 448 2 %
Midstream operating expense $ 2,725 $ 4,029 $ (1,304) (32 %)
Cost of product sales $ 6,024 $ 25,355 $ (19,331) (76 %)
Production taxes $ 7,660 $ 14,484 $ (6,824) (47 %)
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense – oil and
natural gas $ 31,277 $ 26,446 $ 4,831 18 %
Depreciation and amortization expense – other $ 1,758 $ 1,217 $ 541 44 %
General and administrative $ 5,360 $ 5,799 $ (439) (8) %
Operating Expenses ($/Boe)
Gathering and processing expense $ 1.75 $ 3.45 $ (1.70) (49 %)
Lease operating expense $ 6.36 $ 6.47 $ (0.11) (2 %)
Production taxes (% of oil, natural gas and NGL sales) 4.6 % 5.6 % (1.0)% (18 %)
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense – oil and
natural gas $ 6.88 $ 6.02 $ 0.86 14 %
Depreciation and amortization expense – other $ 0.39 $ 0.28 $ 0.11 39 %
General and administrative $ 1.18 $ 1.32 $ (0.14) (11) %
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Gathering and processing expense

Gathering and processing expense decreased by $7.2 million, or 47% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended
September 30, 2022, primarily due to decreased natural gas prices leading to lower fuel costs. Gathering and processing expense per Boe produced decreased by $1.70 due to
lower fuel expense that fluctuated with the decrease in commodity gas prices.

Lease operating expense

 Lease operating expense increased $0.4 million, or 2% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended
September 30, 2022. Lease operating expenses per Boe decreased $0.12 primarily due to the increase in production in the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as
compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022.

Midstream operating expense

Midstream operating expense decreased $1.3 million, or 32% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended
September 30, 2022, primarily due to a decrease in gathering operating expense of $0.4 million and a decrease in water disposal costs of $0.6 million, both of which decreased
as a result of us taking over as operator on a significant number of wells beginning January 1, 2023.

Cost of product sales

Cost of product sales decreased $19.3 million, or 76% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30,
2022. This decrease was primarily a result of decreases in non-operated production resulting in lower overall cost of product sales, compounded by the decrease in the average
selling price on natural gas and NGLs. These decreases were offset with the decrease in product sales noted above.

Production taxes

Production taxes decreased $6.8 million, or 47% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022.
This decrease was primarily a result of a decrease in the average selling price on all products, partially offset by an increase in production. Production taxes as a percentage of
revenue decreased from 5.6% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2022, to 4.6% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023. The effective tax rate can
have minor fluctuations due to the overall product mix and related tax deductions available for each product.

Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense

 Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense for oil and natural gas properties increased by $4.8 million, or 18% for the three-month period ended
September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022. The increase is primarily attributable to additional drilling activities and acquisitions
that added to the depletable base and increased overall production. Depreciation and amortization expense for other assets increased $0.5 million, or 44% for the three-
month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022, primarily due to additional assets acquired during the year.

General and administrative costs

General and administrative costs decreased $0.4 million, or 8% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the three-month period ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease in general and administrative costs was primarily due to a $1.2 million reduction in equity compensation expense recorded in the three-
month period ended September 30, 2023, in comparison to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022, partially offset by an increase in management fees of $0.6 million
in the three-month period ended September 30, 2023, in comparison to the three-month period ended September 30, 2022.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

Revenue

The following table provides the components of the Company’s revenue, net of transportation and marketing costs for the periods indicated, as well as each period’s
respective average realized prices and net production volumes. Some totals and changes throughout the below section may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
($ in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percent
Revenues:
Oil $ 321,427 $ 342,708 (21,281) (6) %
Natural gas 106,069 234,815 (128,746) (55) %
Natural gas liquids 51,823 89,350 (37,527) (42) %
Total oil, natural gas, and NGL sales 479,319 666,873 (187,554) (28) %

Gain (loss) on oil and natural gas derivatives, net 10,842 (74,577) 85,419 (115 %)
Midstream revenue 20,001 31,929 (11,928) (37) %
Product sales 24,321 74,948 (50,627) (68) %
Total revenues $ 534,483 $ 699,173 $ (164,690) (24) %

Average Sales Price(1):
Oil ($/Bbl) $ 77.42 $ 98.40 $ (20.98) (21) %
Natural gas ($/Mcf) $ 2.54 $ 6.85 $ (4.31) (63) %
NGL ($/Bbl) $ 24.62 $ 42.79 $ (18.17) (42) %
Total ($/Boe) – before effects of realized derivatives $ 36.30 $ 59.09 $ (22.79) (39) %
Total ($/Boe) – after effects of realized derivatives $ 36.63 $ 51.76 $ (15.13) (29) %

Net Production Volumes:
Oil (MBbl) 4,151 3,483 668 19 %
Natural gas (MMcf) 41,685 34,287 7,398 22 %
NGL (MBbl) 2,105 2,088 17 1 %
Total (MBoe) 13,204 11,285 1,919 17 %
Average daily total volumes (MBoe/d) 48.37 41.34 7.03 17 %
____________

(1) Average sales prices reflected above exclude gathering and processing expense and the separate benefit of third party midstream revenues.

Revenue and other operating income

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

Revenues from oil, natural gas and NGL sales decreased $187.6 million, or 28% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2022. This decrease was primarily a result of a 21% decrease in the average selling price on oil resulting in a decrease in oil sales revenue of
$73.1 million, a 63% decrease in the average selling price on natural gas resulting in a decrease in natural gas sales revenue of $147.6 million, and a 42% decrease on the
average selling price on NGLs resulting in a decrease in NGL sales revenue of $37.9 million. An increase in production of 1,919 MBoe for the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2023, compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022, resulted in an increase in oil, natural gas and NGL revenues of $71.0 million.

Oil and Natural Gas Derivatives

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, the Company had realized gains on derivative instruments of $4.3 million and unrealized gains of $6.5 million for
total gains of $10.8 million. For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company had realized losses on derivative instruments of $82.7 million and unrealized
gains of $8.1 million for total losses of $74.6 million. The decrease in realized losses is primarily from the overall decrease in oil
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and gas prices in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022.

Production

Production increased 1,919 MBoe, or 17% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in new production from wells that were brought on-line as a result of increased drilling activity subsequent to September 30,
2022, partially offset with natural production declines on our existing wells. Additionally, we closed on five acquisitions throughout the nine-month period ended September 30,
2022. Accordingly, the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023 includes a full nine-months of production for these wells, whereas 2022 includes only partial periods of
production on these acquired wells.

Product sales

Product sales decreased $50.6 million, or 68% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022.
This decrease was primarily a result of decreases in non-operated production resulting in lower overall product sales, compounded by the decrease in the average selling price on
natural gas and NGLs. These decreases corresponded with the decrease in our cost of product sales noted below.

Midstream revenue

Midstream revenue decreased $11.9 million, or 37% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30,
2022, primarily due to lower non-operated volumes running through our midstream facilities. Of the total decrease, $6.3 million relates to decreases in fee revenue related to
gathering and processing, and $5.6 million is due to decreased saltwater gathering and disposal revenue.

Operating expenses

The following table summarizes the Company’s expenses for the periods indicated and includes a presentation of certain expenses on a per Boe basis, as we use this
information to evaluate our performance relative to our peers and to identify and measure trends we believe may require additional analysis:

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
($ in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percent
Operating Expenses:
Gathering and processing expense $ 25,472 $ 35,959 $ (10,487) (29 %)
Lease operating expense $ 89,494 $ 68,023 $ 21,471 32 %
Midstream operating expense $ 8,263 $ 11,006 $ (2,743) (25 %)
Cost of product sales $ 21,599 $ 70,313 $ (48,714) (69 %)
Production taxes $ 23,186 $ 37,159 $ (13,973) (38 %)
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense – oil and
natural gas $ 89,372 $ 55,820 $ 33,552 60 %
Depreciation and amortization expense – other $ 4,551 $ 3,225 $ 1,326 41 %
General and administrative $ 15,265 $ 19,447 $ (4,182) (22) %
Operating Expenses ($/Boe)
Gathering and processing expense $ 1.93 $ 3.19 $ (1.26) (39 %)
Lease operating expense $ 6.78 $ 6.03 $ 0.75 12 %
Production taxes (% of oil, natural gas and NGL sales) 4.8 % 5.6 % (0.8)% (14 %)
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense – oil and
natural gas $ 6.77 $ 4.95 $ 1.82 37 %
Depreciation and amortization expense – other $ 0.34 $ 0.29 $ 0.05 17 %
General and administrative $ 1.16 $ 1.72 $ (0.56) (33) %
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Gathering and processing expense.    

Gathering and processing expense decreased by $10.5 million, or 29% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022, primarily due to decreased natural gas prices leading to lower fuel costs. Gathering and processing expense per Boe produced decreased by $1.26 due to
lower fuel expense that fluctuated with the decrease in commodity gas prices.

Lease operating expense

Lease operating expense increased $21.5 million, or 32% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022. Lease operating expense increased primarily as a result of additional wells brought on-line as a result of the drilling activity subsequent to September 30,
2022. Additionally, we closed on five acquisitions throughout the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022. Accordingly, the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023
includes a full nine-months of lease operating expense for these wells, whereas 2022 includes only partial periods of lease operating expense on these acquired wells. Lease
operating expenses per Boe increased $0.75 primarily due to the increase in production in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2022.

Midstream operating expense 

Midstream operating expense decreased $2.7 million, or 25% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022, primarily due to a decrease in plant operating expense of $1.2 million and a decrease in water disposal costs of $1.4 million, both of which decreased as a
result of us taking over as operator on a significant number of wells beginning January 1, 2023.

Cost of product sales 

Cost of product sales decreased $48.7 million, or 69% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30,
2022. This decrease was primarily a result of decreases in non-operated production resulting in lower overall cost of product sales, compounded by the decrease in the average
selling price on natural gas and NGLs. These decreases were offset with the decrease in product sales noted above.

Production taxes

 Production taxes decreased $14.0 million, or 38% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30,
2022. This decrease was primarily a result of a decrease in the average selling price on all products, partially offset by an increase in production. Production taxes as a
percentage of revenue decreased from 5.6% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022, to 4.8% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023. The effective
tax rate can have minor fluctuations due to the overall product mix and related tax deductions available for each product.

Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense.  

Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion expense for oil and natural gas properties increased by $33.6 million, or 60% for the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022. The increase is primarily attributable to additional drilling activities and acquisitions that
added to the depletable base and increased overall production. Depreciation and amortization expense for other assets increased $1.3 million, or 41% for the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022, primarily due to additional assets acquired during the year.

General and administrative costs   

General and administrative costs decreased $4.2 million, or 22% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease in general and administrative costs was primarily due to a $3.7 million reduction in equity compensation expense recorded in the nine-
month period ended September 30, 2023, in comparison to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022, and an increase in operator overhead billed out as a result of new
producing wells from acquisitions and newly drilled wells. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in management fees of $1.7 million in the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2023, in comparison to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are from cash flow generated by operating activities and borrowings under our credit facilities. Outstanding
borrowings under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility were $84.9 million at December 31, 2022 and $91.9 million at September 30, 2023. On November 10, 2023, the BCE-
Mach III Credit Facility was repaid and the Existing Credit Facilities were terminated. Historically, our primary sources of liquidity have also included capital contributions by
our equity holders, but we do not expect to rely on management or our partners for capital. MNR may need to utilize the public equity or debt markets and bank financings to
fund future acquisitions or capital expenditures, but the price at which our common units will trade could be diminished as a result of the limited voting rights of unitholders.
MNR expects to be able to issue additional equity and debt securities from time to time as market conditions allow to facilitate future acquisitions. MNR expects to reduce any
debt incurred to complete such acquisitions in order to meet the long-term goal of maintaining a low leverage profile and funding the development plan with cash flow from
operating activities. MNR’s ability to finance operations, including funding capital expenditures and acquisitions, to meet its indebtedness obligations or to refinance its
indebtedness will depend on MNR’s ability to generate cash in the future. MNR’s ability to generate cash is subject to a number of factors, some of which are beyond its control,
including commodity prices, particularly for oil and natural gas, and its ongoing efforts to manage operating costs and maintenance capital expenditures, as well as general
economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, weather and other factors.

MNR’s partnership agreement requires it to distribute all cash on hand at the end of each quarter, less reserves established by the General Partner, which is referred to as
“available cash.” Nevertheless, the quarterly cash distributions may vary from quarter to quarter as a direct result of variations in the performance of MNR’s business, including
those caused by fluctuations in commodity prices. Any such variations may be significant, and as a result, MNR may pay limited or even no cash distributions to unitholders.

Our business plan has focused on acquiring and then exploiting the development and production of our assets. We spent approximately $258.9 million in the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2023, on development costs and our budget for 2023 is approximately $316.2 million. For purposes of calculating our cash available for
distribution, we define development costs as all of our capital expenditures, other than acquisitions. Our development efforts and capital for 2023 is focused on drilling Oswego
wells given their high oil reserves and low breakeven costs.

During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, we spent approximately $225.8 million on drilling, completion and related equipment, spudding 58.9 net wells
and turning 61.1 net wells to production, $24.1 million on remedial workovers and other capital projects, $9.0 million on midstream and other property and equipment capital
projects, and $21.3 million on acquisitions.

MNR’s 2024 capital expenditures program is largely discretionary and within our control. We could choose to defer a portion of these planned 2024 capital expenditures
depending on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the success of our drilling activities, prevailing and anticipated prices for oil and natural gas, the availability of
necessary equipment, including acid to be used for our acid stimulation completion, infrastructure and capital, the receipt and timing of required regulatory permits and
approvals, seasonal conditions, drilling and acquisition costs and the level of participation by other working interest owners. A deferral of planned capital expenditures,
particularly with respect to drilling and completing new wells, could result in a reduction in anticipated production and cash flows and reduce our cash available for distribution
to unitholders.

Based on current oil and natural gas price expectations for 2024, we believe that our cash flow from operations, together with borrowings from time to time under our
New Credit Facility, will be sufficient to fund our operations through 2024. However, future cash flows are subject to a number of variables, including the level of oil and
natural gas production and prices, and significant additional capital expenditures will be required to more fully develop our properties. For example, we expect a portion of our
future capital expenditures to be financed with cash flows from operations derived from wells drilled on drilling locations not classified as proved reserves in our current reserve
report. The failure to achieve anticipated production and cash flow from operations from such wells could result in a reduction in future capital spending and/or our ability to pay
distributions to unitholders. We cannot assure you that operations and other needed capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all.
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Cash flows

The following table summarizes the Company’s cash flows for the periods indicated:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 381,967 $ 398,302 
Net cash used in investing activities $ (277,893) $ (292,469)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (74,754) $ (115,736)

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $16.3 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities is primarily attributable to the decrease in realized pricing for the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2023 as compared to the nine-month period ended September 30, 2022. The decrease in realized pricing was partially offset with an increase in production from
period to period. Additionally, we received $5.2 million in cash related to derivative settlements in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, compared to paying
derivative settlements of $85.5 million in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, resulting in a net change of derivative settlements of $90.7 million.

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $14.6 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities is primarily attributable to a decrease in cash used for acquisitions of $107.9 million, partially offset by
an increase of cash used for drilling, completion and workover activities of $90.9 million.

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $41.0 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease in net cash used in financing activities is primarily attributable to a decrease in distributions to members of $78.5 million. This was partially
offset with a decrease in contributions from members of $45.0 million in 2023. Additionally, there was also an increase in borrowings on the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility of
$7.0 million.

Debt agreements

Previous Credit Facility

The Company entered into a credit agreement for a revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks, including MidFirst Bank, who served as administrative agent and
issuing bank. The BCE-Mach III Credit Facility provided for a maximum outstanding amount of $400.0 million, subject to commitments of $100.0 million as of September 30,
2023. The BCE-Mach III Credit Facility matured in May 2026. Outstanding obligations under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility were secured by substantially all of our BCE-
Mach III’s assets. As of September 30, 2023, there was $91.9 million outstanding under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility.

The credit agreement governing the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility contained various affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants. These covenants, among
other things, limit additional indebtedness, additional liens, sales of assets, mergers and consolidations, dividends and distributions, transactions with affiliates and entering into
certain swap agreements and require the maintenance of the financial ratios. As of September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, BCE-Mach III was in compliance with all
applicable covenants under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility.

Outstanding borrowings under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility bore interest at a per annum rate that is equal to the Term SOFR rate plus the applicable margin. BCE-
Mach III was obligated to pay a quarterly commitment fee on the unused portion of the commitment, which fee was also dependent on the amount of loans and letters of credit
outstanding. The effective interest rate as of September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, was 8.7% and 7.7%, respectively. On November
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10, 2023, the proceeds from the New Credit Facility were used, in part, to repay and terminate the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility.

New Credit Facility

On November 10, 2023, Holdco entered into the New Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks, including MidFirst Bank who serves as sole book runner and lead
arranger. Outstanding obligations under the New Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of Holdco’s assets. In connection with the New Credit Facility, each of the
Existing Credit Facilities were terminated.

The aggregate principal amount of loans outstanding under the New Credit Facility as of November 10, 2023 was $130 million (which includes $5 million of issued
letters of credit). The New Credit Facility provides for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate maximum amount of $1.0 billion, with an initial borrowing base of $600.0
million, subject to commitments of $200.0 million. The amount available to be borrowed under the New Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base that is redetermined
semiannually each May and November in an amount determined by the lenders. Certain key terms and conditions under the New Credit Facility include (but are not limited to):

•  A maturity date of November 10, 2027;

• The loans shall bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the Term SOFR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin ranges from 3% to 4% depending on the
amount of loans and letters of credit outstanding;

• The unused commitments under the New Credit Facility will accrue a commitment fee, payable quarterly in arrears;

• Certain customary financial covenants, in each case that are determined as of the last day of each fiscal quarter commencing with the fiscal quarter ending December 31,
2023; and cash available for distribution; and

• Certain events of default, including, without limitation: non-payment; breaches of representations and warranties; non-compliance with covenants or other agreements;
cross-default to material indebtedness; judgments; change of control; and voluntary and involuntary bankruptcy.

The New Credit Facility includes certain customary restrictions on the ability of MNR and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant
additional liens and make investments, acquisitions, dispositions, distributions and other payments with certain exceptions as more specifically described in the New Credit
Facility.

The New Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, then, among other things, the lenders may declare any
outstanding obligations under the New Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable and exercise their rights and remedies against the collateral. The obligations under the
New Credit Facility are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of MNR’s assets (subject to permitted liens).

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have not guaranteed the debt or obligations of any other party, nor do we have any other arrangements or relationships with other entities that could potentially result
in consolidated debt or losses.

Operating lease obligations

We have various leasing obligations in the normal course of our operations, as discussed in Note 12 of our consolidated financial statements. There have been no other
material changes to our contractual obligations from those disclosed in the Final Prospectus.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

As of September 30, 2023, there have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies from those disclosed in the Final Prospectus.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk, including the effects of adverse changes in commodity prices and interest rates as described below. The primary objective of the following
information is to provide quantitative and qualitative information
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about our potential exposure to market risks. The term “market risk” refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in commodity prices and interest rates. The
disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected future losses but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses.

Commodity price risk

Oil and gas revenue

Our revenue and cash flow from operations are subject to many variables, the most significant of which is the volatility of commodity prices. Commodity prices are
affected by many factors outside of our control, including changes in market supply and demand, which are impacted by global economic factors, pipeline capacity constraints,
inventory levels, basis differentials, weather conditions and other factors. Commodity prices have long been volatile and unpredictable, and we expect this volatility to continue
in the future.

There can be no assurance that commodity prices will not be subject to continued wide fluctuations in the future. A substantial or extended decline in such prices could
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and quantities of oil and gas reserves that may be economically produced, which could
result in impairments of our oil and gas properties.

Commodity derivative activities

To reduce the impact of fluctuations of commodity prices on our total revenue and other operating income, we have historically used, and we expect to continue to use,
commodity derivative instruments, primarily swaps, to hedge price risk associated with a portion of our anticipated production. Our hedging instruments allow us to reduce, but
not eliminate the potential effects of the variability in cash flow from operations due to fluctuations in commodity prices and provide increased certainty of cash flows for
funding our drilling program and debt service requirements. These instruments provide only partial price protection against declines in prices and may partially limit our
potential gains from future increases in prices. We do not enter derivative contracts for speculative trading purposes. The Existing Credit Facilities contain and the New Credit
Facility contains, various covenants and restrictive provisions which, among other things, limit our ability to enter into commodity price hedges exceeding a certain percentage
of production.

Our hedging activities are intended to support oil and natural gas prices at targeted levels and manage our exposure to natural gas price volatility. Under swap contracts,
the counterparty is required to make a payment to us for the difference between the swap price specified in the contract and the settlement price, which is based on market prices
on the settlement date, if the settlement price is below the swap price. We are required to make a payment to the counterparty for the difference between the swap price and the
settlement price if the swap price is below the settlement price. See Note 8 of our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our derivative position and
valuation as of September 30, 2023.

Counterparty and customer credit risk

By using derivative instruments to hedge exposures to changes in commodity prices, we expose ourselves to the credit risk of our counterparties. Credit risk is the
potential failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of a contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty is expected to owe us,
which creates credit risk. To minimize the credit risk in derivative instruments, it is our policy to enter into derivative contracts only with counterparties that are creditworthy
financial institutions deemed by management as competent and competitive market makers. The creditworthiness of our counterparties is subject to periodic review. As of
September 30, 2023, the Company had derivative instruments in place with one counterparty. We believe our counterparties currently represent acceptable credit risks. We are
not required to provide credit support or collateral to our counterparties under current contracts, nor are they required to provide credit support or collateral to us.

Substantially all of our revenue and receivables result from oil and gas sales to third parties operating in the oil and gas industry. Our receivables also include amounts
owed by joint interest owners in the properties we operate. Both our purchasers and joint interest partners have recently experienced the impact of significant commodity price
volatility as discussed above under “— Commodity Price Risk — Oil and Gas Revenue.” This concentration of customers and joint interest owners may impact our overall
credit risk in that these entities may be similarly affected by changes in commodity prices and economic and other conditions. In the case of joint interest owners, we often have
the ability to withhold future revenue disbursements to recover non-payment of joint interest billings.
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Interest rate risk

Variable rate debt

At September 30, 2023, we had $91.9 million of debt outstanding under the BCE-Mach III Credit Facility. Borrowings outstanding under the BCE-Mach III Credit
Facility bore an effective interest rate of 8.7% as of September 30, 2023. Assuming no change in the amount outstanding, the impact on interest expense of a 1% increase or
decrease in the assumed weighted average interest rate on our variable interest debt would be approximately $0.9 million per year based on our borrowings outstanding at
September 30, 2023.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a 15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), we have evaluated, under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a 15(e) and 15d 15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Report.

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Based
upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30,
2023.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company may, from time to time, be involved in litigation and claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of business. The Company is not currently a
party to any material legal proceedings. In addition, the Company is not aware of any material legal proceedings contemplated to be brought against the Company.

The Company, as an owner and operator of oil and gas properties, is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to discharge of materials into,
and protection of, the environment. These laws and regulations may, among other things, impose liability on the lessee under an oil and gas lease for the cost of pollution
cleanup resulting from operations and subject the lessee to liability for pollution damages. In some instances, the Company may be directed to suspend or cease operations in the
affected area. The Company maintains insurance coverage that is customary in the industry, although the Company is not fully insured against all environmental risks.

The Company is not aware of any environmental claims existing as of September 30, 2023. There can be no assurance, however, that current regulatory requirements will
not change, or past non-compliance with environmental issues will not be discovered on the Company’s oil and gas properties.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the Company’s “Risk Factors” as described in the Registration Statement.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities

On October 25, 2023, MNR underwent the Corporate Reorganization whereby (a) the Existing Owners who directly held membership interests in the Mach Companies
contributed 100% of their membership interests in the Mach Companies for a pro rata allocation of 100% of the limited partner interests in MNR to effectuate a merger of such
entities into MNR, (b) MNR contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach Companies to Intermediate in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in
Intermediate, and (c) Intermediate contributed 100% of its membership interests in the Mach Companies to Holdco in exchange for 100% of the membership interests in
Holdco.

The referenced issuances did not involve any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering and we believe such issuances are exempt from
the registration requirements of the Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(a)(2) thereof and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Use of Proceeds

On October 24, 2023, the Registration Statement (File No. 333-274662) was declared effective by the SEC for the Offering pursuant to which MNR registered and sold an
aggregate of 10,000,000 common units at a price of $19.00 per common unit to the public. The sale of the common units resulted in gross proceeds of $190.0 million to MNR
and net proceeds of $170.0 million, after deducting underwriting fees and offering expenses of $20.0 million.

MNR used $103.7 million of the proceeds to pay down the Existing Credit Facilities of its operating subsidiaries and $66.3 million of the proceeds to purchase 3,750,000
common units from the existing common unit owners on a pro rata basis.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, none of our directors or “officers” (as such term is defined in Rule 16(a)-1(f) under the Exchange Act) adopted or
terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (each as defined in Item 408(a) and (c) of Regulation S-K).
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit 
Number Description
2.1 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2023 by and among Excalibur Resources, LLC, Travis Peak Resources, LLC, Paloma

Partners IV, LLC and TPR Mid-Continent, LLC, as sellers, and Mach Natural Resources LP, as buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023)

3.1 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Mach Natural Resources LP, effective as of May 26, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-274662) filed with the SEC on September 22, 2023)

3.2 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Mach Natural Resources LP, dated as of October 27, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)

3.3* Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Mach Natural Resources GP, LLC, dated as of October 27, 2023
10.1 Mach Natural Resource LP 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)
10.2 Contribution Agreement, dated October 13, 2023, by and among Mach Natural Resources LP, Mach Natural Resources Holdco LLC, Mach Natural

Resources Intermediate LLC and the other contributors party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)

10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-274662) filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023)

10.4 Management Services Agreement, dated October 27, 2023, by and between Mach Natural Resources LP and Mach Resources LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)

10.5 Form of Mach Natural Resources LP 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan Phantom Unit Agreement (Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-275200) filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)

10.6 Form of Mach Natural Resources LP 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan Phantom Unit Agreement (Executives) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5
to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-275200) filed with the SEC on October 27, 2023)

10.7 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated November 10, 2023, among Mach Natural Resources Holdco LLC, as borrower, the several lenders
from time to time parties thereto and MidFirst Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 21, 2023)

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the

Inline XBRL document
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

____________

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

Mach Natural Resources LP

By: Mach Natural Resources GP LLC,
its general partner

Date: December 7, 2023 By: /s/ Kevin R. White
Name: Kevin R. White
Title: Chief Financial Officer

39



Exhibit 3.3

Execution Version

AMENDED AND RESTATED
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

OF
MACH NATURAL RESOURCES GP LLC



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS 1
Section 1.1    Definitions. 1
Section 1.2    Construction. 6
ARTICLE II ORGANIZATION 6
Section 2.1    Formation. 6
Section 2.2    Name. 6
Section 2.3    Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office; Other Offices. 6
Section 2.4    Purpose and Business. 7
Section 2.5    Powers. 7
Section 2.6    Term. 7
Section 2.7    Title to Company Assets. 7
ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS; RIGHTS OF MEMBERS 7
Section 3.1    Membership Interests. 7
Section 3.2    Meetings of Members. 7
Section 3.3    Voting. 8
Section 3.4    Quorum; Voting Requirement. 8
Section 3.5    Proxies. 8
Section 3.6    Action Without Meeting. 8
Section 3.7    Notice. 8
Section 3.8    Waiver of Notice. 8
Section 3.9    Distributions. 9
ARTICLE IV CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS; NATURE OF MEMBERSHIP INTEREST 9
Section 4.1    Capital Contributions. 9
Section 4.2    Capital Accounts. 9
Section 4.3    Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Nature of Membership Interests. 9
ARTICLE V ALLOCATIONS 10
Section 5.1    Allocation of Profits and Losses. 10
Section 5.2    Special Allocations. 10
Section 5.3    Income Tax Allocations. 11
Section 5.4    Other Allocation Rules. 12
Section 5.5    Interpretation.. 12
ARTICLE VI MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF BUSINESS 12
Section 6.1    Management of the Company 12
Section 6.2    Establishment of the Board; Board Composition. 13
Section 6.3    Non-Independent Directors. 13
Section 6.4    The Board; Delegation of Authority and Duties. 13
Section 6.5    Term of Office; Removal and Replacement. 14
Section 6.6    Meetings of the Board and Committees. 15

i



Section 6.7    Compensation of Directors 15
Section 6.8    Voting. 15
Section 6.9    Authority of the Board and the Officers. 16
Section 6.10    Devotion of Time. 16
Section 6.11    Certificate of Formation. 16
Section 6.12    Benefit Plans. 16
Section 6.13    Indemnification. 17
Section 6.14    Limitation of Liability of Indemnitees. 18
Section 6.15    Reliance by Third Parties. 19
Section 6.16    Other Business of Members. 19
ARTICLE VII OFFICERS 20
Section 7.1    Officers. 20
Section 7.2    Compensation. 20
ARTICLE VIII BOOKS, RECORDS, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTS 20
Section 8.1    Records and Accounting. 20
Section 8.2    Reports. 20
Section 8.3    Bank Accounts. 21
ARTICLE IX TAX MATTERS 21
Section 9.1    Tax Returns. 21
Section 9.2    Tax Status. 21
Section 9.3    Tax Elections. 21
Section 9.4    Partnership Representative. 22
ARTICLE X DISSOLUTION, LIQUIDATION AND TRANSFER 22
Section 10.1    Dissolution. 22
Section 10.2    Effect of Dissolution. 23
Section 10.3    Application of Proceeds. 23
Section 10.4    Transfer of Membership Interests. 23
ARTICLE XI GENERAL PROVISIONS 24
Section 11.1    Addresses and Notices. 24
Section 11.2    Creditors. 25
Section 11.3    Applicable Law. 25
Section 11.4    Invalidity of Provisions. 25
Section 11.5    Jurisdiction; Venue. 25
Section 11.6    Amendment or Modification. 25
Section 11.7    Third Party Beneficiaries. 26

ii



AMENDED AND RESTATED 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT OF 

MACH NATURAL RESOURCES GP LLC

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT  of Mach Natural Resources GP LLC (the
“Company”), dated as of October 27, 2023, is entered into by BCE-Mach Aggregator LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ BCE Member”)
and Mach Resources LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Mach Member”, and together with the BCE Member, the “ Members”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, on May 26, 2023, the Company was formed as a limited liability company organized and existing under the Laws of Delaware
pursuant to the Delaware Certificate (as defined herein) filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware;

WHEREAS, the BCE Member, as the sole member of the Company, adopted a limited liability company agreement of the Company effective as
of May 26, 2023;

WHEREAS, the Members desire to enter into this Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (the “ Agreement”).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants, conditions and agreements contained herein, the Members hereby enter into this
Agreement:

Article I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Definitions.

The following definitions shall be for all purposes, unless otherwise clearly indicated to the contrary, applied to the terms used in this
Agreement.

“Act” means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, 6 Del. C. § 18-101, et seq., as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time,
and any successor to such statute.

“Adjusted Capital Account Deficit” means, with respect to any Member, the deficit balance, if any, in such Member’s Capital Account as of
the end of the relevant Fiscal Year, after giving effect to the following adjustments: (i) a credit to such Capital Account of any amounts that such
Member is deemed to be obligated to restore pursuant to the penultimate sentences of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.704-2(i)(5) and 1.704-2(g)(1); and
(ii) a debit to such Capital Account of the items described in Treasury Regulations Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5), and (6). The foregoing definition
of Adjusted Capital Account Deficit is intended to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) and shall be
interpreted consistently therewith.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with, the Person in question. As used herein, the term “control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise.

“Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.

“Allocation Period” means the period (a) commencing on the date hereof or, for any Allocation Period other than such first Allocation Period,
the day following the end of a prior Allocation Period and (b) ending (A) on the last day of each Fiscal Year, (B) on the day preceding any day in which
an adjustment to the Book Value of the Company’s properties pursuant to clause (b)(i), (ii), (iii) or (v) of the



definition of Book Value occurs, (C) immediately after any day in which an adjustment to the Book Value of the Company’s properties pursuant to
clause (b)(iv) of the definition of Book Value occurs, or (D) on any other date determined by the Board.

“Authorized Representative” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.5.

“Board” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2.

“Book Value” means, with respect to any property of the Company, such property’s adjusted basis for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except
as follows:

(a) The initial Book Value of any property contributed by a Member to the Company shall be the fair market value of such property
as of the date of such contribution as reasonably determined by the Board.

(b) The Book Values of all properties shall be adjusted to equal their respective fair market values in connection with (i) the
acquisition of an interest (or additional interest) in the Company by any new or existing Member in exchange for more than a de minimis Capital
Contribution to the Company or in exchange for the performance of more than a de minimis amount of services to or for the benefit of the Company; (ii)
the distribution by the Company to a Member of more than a de minimis amount of property as consideration for an interest in the Company; (iii) the
liquidation of the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g)(1); (iv) the acquisition of an interest in the
Company by any new or existing Member upon the exercise of a noncompensatory option in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)
(2)(iv)(s); or (v) any other event to the extent determined by the Board to be permitted and necessary to properly reflect Book Values in accordance with
the standards set forth in Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(q); provided, however, that adjustments pursuant to clauses (b)(i), (b)(ii) and (b)
(iv) above shall be made only if the Board reasonably determines that such adjustments are necessary or appropriate to reflect the relative economic
interests of the Members in the Company. If any non-compensatory options are outstanding upon the occurrence of an event described in clauses (b)(i)
through (b)(v) above, the Company shall adjust the Book Values of its properties in accordance with Treasury Regulations Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f)
(1) and 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(h)(2).

(c) The Book Value of property distributed to a Member shall be adjusted to equal the fair market value of such property as of the
date of such distribution, as reasonably determined by the Board.

(d) The Book Value of all property shall be increased (or decreased) to reflect any adjustments to the adjusted basis of such property
pursuant to Code Section 734(b) (including any such adjustments pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.734-2(b)(1)), but only to the extent that
such adjustments are taken into account in determining Capital Accounts pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m) and clause (f) of
the definition of “Profits” or “Losses” or Section 5.2(f); provided, however, that the Book Value of property shall not be adjusted pursuant to this clause
(d) to the extent that the Board reasonably determines an adjustment pursuant to clause (b) is necessary or appropriate in connection with a transaction
that would otherwise result in an adjustment pursuant to this clause (d).

(e) If the Book Value of property has been determined or adjusted pursuant to clauses (a), (b) or (d) of this definition, such Book
Value shall thereafter be adjusted by the depreciation, amortization and other cost recovery deductions taken into account with respect to such property
for purposes of computing Profits, Losses and other items allocated pursuant to Article V.

“Capital Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.2(a).

“Capital Contribution” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.1.
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“Cause” means a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a final, non-appealable judgment finding the Company liable to the Partnership or
any Limited Partner for actual fraud or willful misconduct in its capacity as a general partner of the Partnership.

“Chairman” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.4(d).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of succeeding law.

“Common Units” means the common units of the Partnership issued pursuant to the Partnership Agreement.

“Company” means Mach Natural Resources GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and any successors thereto.

“Company Minimum Gain” has the meaning given to “partnership minimum gain” in Treasury Regulations Sections 1.704-2(b)(2) and 1.704-
2(d).

“Contributed Property” means each property or other asset, in such form as may be permitted by the Act, but excluding cash, contributed to
the Company.

“Delaware Certificate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.

“Directors” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.2.

“Family Transferees” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.4(b).

“Group Member” has the meaning assigned to such term in Partnership Agreement.

“Group Member Agreement” means the partnership agreement of any Group Member, that is a limited or general partnership, the limited
liability company agreement of any Group Member, other than the Company, that is a limited liability company and the governing or organizational or
similar documents of any other Group Member that is a Person other than a limited or general partnership or limited liability company, as the same may
be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

“Indemnitee” means (a) the Members; (b) any Person who is or was an Affiliate of the Company; (c) any Person who is or was a member,
partner, director, officer, fiduciary or trustee of the Company, any Group Member or the Partnership; (d) any Person who is or was serving at the request
of the Board as a member, partner, director, officer, fiduciary or trustee of another Person, in each case, acting in such capacity, provided, that a Person
shall not be an Indemnitee by reason of providing, on a fee-for-services basis, trustee, fiduciary or custodial services; and (e) any Person the Company
designates as an “Indemnitee” for purposes of this Agreement.

“Independent Director” means a Director that (a) meets the meeting independence standards required of directors who serve on an audit
committee of a board of directors established by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission thereunder and by the national securities exchange on which any class of Partnership Interests of the Partnership are listed or admitted to
trading and (b) does not constitute a part of the Member Group of the Member that appointed or is seeking to appoint such Director.

“Joint Venture Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Partnership Agreement.

“Management Services Agreement” means that certain management services agreement, dated October 27, 2023, by and between the
Company, the Partnership and the Mach Member.
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“Member Group” means, with respect to a Member, such Member’s Affiliates and the directors, officers and employees of such Member and
such Affiliates and, with respect to the Mach Member, Family Transferees of its Affiliates, directors, officers and employees; provided that, for the
purposes of the use of such term in the definition of “Percentage Interest” any such directors, officers and employees shall have been serving in such role
with respect to such Member or its applicable Affiliate for at least one year prior to the date of determination.

“Member Nonrecourse Debt” has the meaning given to “partner nonrecourse debt” under Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-2(b)(4).

“Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain ” has the meaning given to “partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain” under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.704-2(i)(2).

“Member Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning given to “partner nonrecourse deductions” under Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-2(i)
(1).

“Membership Interest” means all of the Members’ rights and interest in the Company in the Members’ capacity as the Members, all as
provided in the Delaware Certificate, this Agreement and the Act, including the Members’ interests in the capital, income, gain, deductions, losses and
credits of the Company.

“Officer” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.1(a).

“Partnership” means Mach Natural Resources L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

“Partnership Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated as of the date hereof,
as it may be further amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

“Partnership Interests” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Partnership Agreement.

“Partnership Audit Rules ” means Sections 6221 through 6241 of the Code, any Treasury Regulations (including proposed Treasury
Regulations) promulgated thereunder and any administrative guidance with respect thereto.

“Percentage Interest” means, as to any Member, the percentage obtained by dividing (a) the number of Common Units held by such Member
and its Member Group by (b) the total number of Common Units held by all Members and their respective Member Groups at the time in question.

“Person” means an individual or a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization,
association, government agency or political subdivision thereof or other entity.

“Profits” or “Losses” means, for each Allocation Period, an amount equal to the Company’s taxable income or loss for such period, determined
in accordance with Code Section 703(a) (for this purpose, all items of income, gain, loss, or deduction required to be stated separately pursuant to Code
Section 703(a)(1) shall be included in taxable income or loss), with the following adjustments (without duplication):

(a) any income of the Company that is exempt from U.S. federal income tax and not otherwise taken into account in computing
Profits and Losses pursuant to this definition of “Profits” and “Losses” shall be added to such taxable income or loss;

(b) any expenditures of the Company described in Code Section 705(a)(2)(B) or treated as Code Section 705(a)(2)(B) expenditures
pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i), and not otherwise taken into account in computing Profits or Losses pursuant to this
definition of “Profits” and “Losses,” shall be subtracted from such taxable income or loss;
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(c) in the event the Book Value of any asset is adjusted pursuant to clause (b) or clause (c) of the definition of Book Value, the
amount of such adjustment shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment increases the Book Value of the asset) or an item of loss (if the
adjustment decreases the Book Value of the asset) from the disposition of such asset and shall, except to the extent allocated pursuant to Section 5.2, be
taken into account for purposes of computing Profits or Losses;

(d) gain or loss resulting from any disposition of property with respect to which gain or loss is recognized for U.S. federal income
tax purposes shall be computed by reference to the Book Value of the property disposed of, notwithstanding that the adjusted tax basis of such property
differs from its Book Value;

(e) items of depreciation, amortization, and other cost recovery deductions with respect to any asset having a Book Value that differs
from its adjusted tax basis shall be computed by reference to the asset’s Book Value in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)
(g);

(f) to the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any asset pursuant to Code Section 734(b) is required, pursuant to
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4), to be taken into account in determining Capital Account balances as a result of a distribution other
than in liquidation of a Member’s interest in the Company, the amount of such adjustment shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment increases
the basis of the asset) or an item of loss (if the adjustment decreases such basis) from the disposition of such asset and shall be taken into account for
purposes of computing Profits or Losses; and

(g) any items that are allocated pursuant to Section 5.2 shall not be taken into account in computing Profits and Losses, but such
items available to be specially allocated pursuant to Section 5.2 will be determined by applying rules analogous to those set forth in this definition of
Profits or Losses.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, (a) a corporation of which more than 50% of the voting power of shares entitled (without
regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors or other governing body of such corporation is owned, directly or
indirectly, at the date of determination, by such Person, by one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, (b) a partnership (whether
general or limited) in which such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person is, at the date of determination, a general partner of such partnership, but only if
such Person, one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, or a combination thereof, controls such partnership on the date of determination; or (c) any other
Person (other than a corporation or a partnership) in which such Person, one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, or a combination thereof, directly or
indirectly, at the date of determination, has (i) at least a majority ownership interest or (ii) the power to elect or direct the election of a majority of the
directors or other governing body of such Person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, for so long as any Person is not consolidated in the
Company’s financial statements for accounting purposes, then such Person will not be deemed a “Subsidiary” of the Company.

“Third Party” means any Person other than a Member and such Member’s Member Group.

“Treasury Regulations” means the income tax regulations promulgated under the Code, as they may be amended from time to time.

Section 1.2 Construction.

(a) Unless the context requires otherwise: (i) capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings
assigned to such terms in the Partnership Agreement; (ii) any pronoun used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or
neuter forms; (iii) references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this Agreement; and (iv) the term “ include” or “includes” means
includes, without limitation, and “including” means including, without limitation.
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(b) A reference to any Person includes such Person’s successors and permitted assigns.

Article II
ORGANIZATION

Section 1.1 Formation.

The Company was formed as a Delaware limited liability company by the filing of a Certificate of Formation (as amended, the “Delaware
Certificate”) on May 26, 2023 with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware under and pursuant to the Act and by the entering into of the Original
Agreement.

Section 1.2 Name.

The name of the Company is “Mach Natural Resources GP LLC” and all Company business will be conducted in that name or such other names
that comply with Applicable Law as the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) may select. The Board may change the name of the Company
at any time and from time to time, and shall promptly notify the Members of such change.

Section 1.3 Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office; Other Offices.

The registered office of the Company required by the Act to be maintained in the State of Delaware shall be the office of the initial registered
agent for service of process named in the Delaware Certificate or such other office (which need not be a place of business of the Company) as the Board
may designate in the manner provided by Applicable Law. The registered agent for service of process of the Company in the State of Delaware shall be
the initial registered agent for service of process named in the Delaware Certificate or such other Person or Persons as the Board may designate in the
manner provided by Applicable Law. The principal office of the Company in the United States shall be at such a place as the Board may from time to
time designate, which need not be in the State of Delaware, and the Company shall maintain records there. The Company may have such other offices as
the Board may designate.

Section 1.4 Purpose and Business.

The purpose of the Company is to act as a general partner or managing member, as the case may be, of the Partnership and any other partnership
or limited liability company of which the Partnership is, directly or indirectly, a partner or member and to undertake activities that are ancillary or related
thereto (including being a Limited Partner in the Partnership) and to engage in any lawful business or activity ancillary or related thereto.

Section 1.5 Powers.

The Company shall possess and may exercise all the powers and privileges granted by the Act, by any other Applicable Law or by this
Agreement, together with any powers incidental thereto, including such powers and privileges as are necessary or appropriate to the conduct, promotion
or attainment of the business, purposes or activities of the Company.

Section 1.6 Term.

The term of the Company commenced upon the filing of the Delaware Certificate on May 26, 2023 in accordance with the Act and shall continue
until the dissolution of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Article X. The existence of the Company as a separate legal entity shall
continue until the cancellation of the Delaware Certificate as provided in the Act.
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Section 1.7 Title to Company Assets.

Title to Company assets, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, shall be deemed to be owned by the Company as an
entity, and the Members shall not have any ownership interest in such Company assets or any portion thereof.

Article III
MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS; RIGHTS OF MEMBERS

Section 1.1 Membership Interests.

The limited liability company interests in the Company shall be expressed as comprising a Member’s Membership Interest. As of the date hereof,
the Persons listed on Exhibit A are the sole Members of the Company and have the Percentage Interests set forth opposite each such Member’s name
thereon. Exhibit A shall be amended from time to time to reflect any changes in the Members and their respective Membership Interests and Percentage
Interests without the further vote, act or consent of any Member.

Section 1.2 Meetings of Members.

Meetings of the Members may be held for any purpose or purposes and may be called by the Board or upon the request of any Member.
Meetings of the Members may be held outside the State of Delaware at such location as designated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed
waiver of the notice thereof. Members and Authorized Representatives may participate in a meeting of the Members by means of conference telephone
or other similar communication equipment whereby all Members or Authorized Representatives participating in the meeting can hear each other, and
such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting, except when a Member or Authorized Representative participates for
the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting was not lawfully called or convened.

Section 1.3 Voting.

Members shall be entitled to vote on all matters relating to the Company, including matters relating to the amendment of this Agreement, any
merger, consolidation or conversion of the Company, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the termination, dissolution and
liquidation of the Company.

Section 1.4  Quorum; Voting Requirement.

The presence, in person or by proxy, of all of the Members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by the Members. The
affirmative vote of Members holding a majority of the Membership Interests shall constitute a valid decision of the Members, except where a different
vote is required by the Act or this Agreement.

Section 1.5 Proxies.

Any Member entitled to vote but expecting to be absent from a meeting shall be entitled to designate in writing (or orally; provided, that such
oral designation is later confirmed in writing) a proxy (an "Authorized Representative") to act on behalf of such Member with respect to such meeting (to
the same extent and with the same force and effect as the Member who has designated such Authorized Representative). Such Authorized
Representative shall have full power and authority to act and take actions or refrain from taking actions as the Member by whom such Authorized
Representative has been designated.
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Section 1.6 Action Without Meeting.

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of Members of the Company may be taken without a meeting, without prior Notice
and without a vote if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken is signed by all Members. A consent transmitted by electronic transmission by
a Member shall be deemed to be written and signed.

Section 1.7 Notice.

Notice stating the place, day and hour of any meeting of Members and the purpose for which the meeting is called shall be delivered pursuant to
Section 11.1 not less than three Business Days nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting by or at the direction of the Board or the Member
calling the meeting, to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting.

Section 1.8 Waiver of Notice.

When any Notice is required to be given to any Member hereunder, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the Member or its Authorized
Representative, whether before, at or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to the giving of such Notice. Attendance at a meeting will be
deemed a waiver of Notice, except when a Member or Authorized Representative participates for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of
any business on the ground that the meeting was not lawfully called or convened.

Section 1.9 Distributions.

Subject to the Act and any agreements to which the Company is subject, cash of the Company which is not required, in the judgment of the
Members, to meet obligations of the Company nor reasonably necessary for future operations shall be distributed to the Members, pro rata in proportion
to Percentage Interests, at least quarterly.

Article IV
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS;

NATURE OF MEMBERSHIP INTEREST

Section 1.1 Capital Contributions.

Each of the Members has made a contribution to the capital of the Company (a “ Capital Contribution”) as reflected on Exhibit A. The
Members shall not be required to make any other Capital Contributions.

Section 1.2 Capital Accounts.

(a) A separate capital account (a “ Capital Account”) shall be established and maintained for each Member in accordance with the
requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). Each Member’s Capital Account (i) shall be increased by (A) the amount of money
contributed by such Member to the Company, (B) the initial Book Value of property contributed by such Member to the Company (net of liabilities
secured by the Contributed Property that the Company is considered to assume or take subject to under Code Section 752), (C) allocations to such
Member of Profits pursuant to Section 5.1 and any other items of income or gain allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 5.2 and (D) any other
increases allowed or required by Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv), and (ii) shall be decreased by (A) the amount of money distributed to
such Member by the Company, (B) the Book Value of property distributed to such Member by the Company (net of liabilities secured by the distributed
property that such Member is considered to assume or take subject to under Code Section 752), (C) allocations to such Member of Losses pursuant to
Section 5.1 and any other items of loss or deduction allocated to such Member pursuant to Section 5.2, and (D) any other decreases allowed or required
by Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv).
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(b) In the event of a transfer of Membership Interests made in accordance with this Agreement, the Capital Account of the transferor
that is attributable to the transferred Membership Interest shall carry over to the transferee Member in accordance with the provisions of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(l).

(c) Except as otherwise required by the Act, no Member shall have any liability to restore all or any portion of a deficit balance in
such Member’s Capital Account.

Section 1.3 Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Nature of Membership Interests.

All Membership Interests issued pursuant to, and in accordance with, the requirements of this Article IV shall be fully paid and non-assessable
Membership Interests, except as such non-assessability may be affected by Sections 18-607 and 18-804 of the Act.

Article V
ALLOCATIONS

Section 1.1 Allocation of Profits and Losses.

Except as set forth in Section 5.2, Profits and Losses for each Allocation Period shall be allocated to the Members in accordance with their
respective Percentage Interests.

Section 1.2 Special Allocations.

(a) Allocation to Reflect Economic Arrangement of Members . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5.1 requiring Company
income and losses to be allocated in accordance with the Members’ respective Percentage Interests, the Members understand that special allocations of
Company tax items, including but not limited to income, gain, loss, credits and deductions, may be necessary to accurately reflect the underlying
economic arrangement of the Members.

(b) Minimum Gain Chargeback. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article V, if there is a net decrease in Company
Minimum Gain during any Allocation Period, each Member shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for such Allocation Period
(and, if necessary, subsequent Allocation Periods) in an amount equal to such Member’s share of the net decrease in Company Minimum Gain,
determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-2(g)(2). Allocations pursuant to the previous sentence shall be made in proportion to
the respective amounts required to be allocated to each Member pursuant thereto. The items to be so allocated shall be determined in accordance with
Section 1.704-2(f) of the Treasury Regulations. This Section 5.2(b) is intended to comply with the minimum gain chargeback requirement in such
Section of the Treasury Regulations and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.

(c) Member Minimum Gain Chargeback. Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.704-2(i)(4) of the Treasury Regulations,
notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 5.2, if there is a net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain attributable to a Member
Nonrecourse Debt during any Allocation Period, each Member who has a share of the Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain attributable to such
Member Nonrecourse Debt, determined in accordance with Section 1.704-2(i)(5) of the Treasury Regulations, shall be specially allocated a pro rata
portion of items of Company net operating income and gain for such Allocation Period (and, if necessary, subsequent Allocation Periods) in an amount
equal to such Member’s share of the net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain attributable to such Member Nonrecourse Debt,
determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-2(i)(4). Allocations pursuant to the previous sentence shall be made in proportion to
the respective amounts required to be allocated to each Member pursuant thereto. The items to be so allocated shall be determined in accordance with
Sections 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)(2) of the Treasury Regulations. This Section 5.2(c) is intended to comply with the minimum gain chargeback
requirement in Section 1.704-2(i)(4) of the Treasury Regulations and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.
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(d) Qualified Income Offset. In the event any Member unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allocations, or distributions described
in Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704 - 1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5), or 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6) of the Treasury Regulations, items of Company income and gain
shall be specially allocated to each such Member in an amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to the extent required by the Treasury Regulations, the
Adjusted Capital Account Deficit of such Member as quickly as possible, provided that an allocation pursuant to this Section 5.2(d) shall be made only if
and to the extent that such Member would have an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit after all other allocations provided for in this Section 5.2 have been
tentatively made as if this Section were not in the Agreement.

(e) Gross Income Allocation. In the event any Member has a deficit Capital Account at the end of any Allocation Period, each such
Member shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain in the amount of such excess as quickly as possible, provided that an allocation
pursuant to this Section 5.2(e) shall be made only if and to the extent that such Member would have a deficit Capital Account in excess of such sum after
all other allocations provided for in this Section 5.2 have been made as if Section 5.2(d) hereof and this Section were not in the Agreement.

(f) Code Section 754 Adjustment . To the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset pursuant to Code
Sections 734(b) or 743(b) is required, pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m), to be taken into account in determining Capital
Accounts, the amount of such adjustment to the Capital Accounts shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment increases the basis of the asset) or
loss (if the adjustment decreases such basis) and such gain or loss shall be specially allocated to the Members in a manner consistent with the manner in
which their Capital Accounts are required to be adjusted pursuant to such Section of the Treasury Regulations.

(g) Nonrecourse Deductions. Nonrecourse Deductions, as that term is defined in Section 1.704-2(b)(1) of the Treasury Regulations,
for any Allocation Period or other period shall be specially allocated among the Members in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.

(h) Member Nonrecourse Deductions. Any Member Nonrecourse Deductions for any Allocation Period or other period shall be
specially allocated to the Member who bears the economic risk of loss with respect to the Member Nonrecourse Debt to which such Member
Nonrecourse Deductions are attributable in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-2(i).

Section 1.3 Income Tax Allocations.

(a) General Tax Allocations. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5.3, all items of income, gain, loss and deduction for U.S.
federal income tax purposes shall be allocated in the same manner as the corresponding item is allocated pursuant to Section 5.1.

(b) Allocation in Accordance with Section 704(c) . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article V, any income, gain, loss,
or deduction with respect to any property contributed to the capital of the Company shall, solely for tax purposes, be allocated among the Members so as
to take account of any variation between the adjusted basis of such property to the Company for federal income tax purposes and the Book Value of that
property at the time it was contributed to the Company in the manner provided by and to the full extent required by Code Section 704(c) and Treasury
Regulations Section 1.704-3 using any permissible method determined by the Board to be appropriate; provided, however, with respect to any such
property, the Capital Accounts of the Members shall be adjusted in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.704- 1(b)(2)(iv)(g) or any successor
provision for allocations to them of depreciation, depletion, amortization, and gain or loss, as computed for book purposes.

(c) Depreciation Recapture. Any (i) recapture of depreciation or any other item of deduction shall be allocated, in accordance with
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1245-1(e) and 1.1254-5, to the Members who received the benefit of such deductions (taking into account the effect of
allocations pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-3(d)), and (ii) recapture of any grants or credits shall be allocated to the Members in
accordance with applicable law.
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(d) Allocation of Tax Credits. Tax credits of the Company, if any, shall be allocated among the Members as provided in Treasury
Regulations Sections 1.704-1(b)(4)(ii) and 1.704-1(b)(4)(viii).

(e) Limited Application of Section 5.3. Allocations pursuant to this Section 5.3 are solely for purposes of federal, state, and local
taxes and shall not affect, or in any way he taken into account in computing, any Member’s Capital Account or share of Profits, Losses, or other items, or
distributions pursuant to any provision of this Agreement.

Section 1.4 Other Allocation Rules.

(a) All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit allocable to an interest in the Company that may have been transferred shall
be allocated between the transferor and the transferee based on the portion of the Fiscal Year during which each was recognized as the owner of such
interest, without regard to the results of Company operations during any particular portion of that year and without regard to whether cash distributions
were made to the transferor or the transferee during that year; provided, however, that this allocation must be made in accordance with a method
permissible under Code Section 706 and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

(b) The Members’ proportionate shares of the “excess nonrecourse liabilities” of the Company, within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.752-3(a)(3), shall be allocated to the Members in any manner determined by the Board and permissible under the Treasury
Regulations.

(c) The definition of Capital Account set forth in Section 4.2(a) and the allocations set forth herein are intended to comply with the
Treasury Regulations. If the Board determines that the determination of a Member’s Capital Account or the allocations to a Member are not in
compliance with the Treasury Regulations, the Board is authorized to make any appropriate adjustments.

Section 1.5 Interpretation. The provisions set forth in Section 4.2 and this Article V shall apply to the extent permitted or required by
applicable law, as determined by the Board.

Article VI
MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF BUSINESS

Section 1.1 Management of the Company

(a) Subject to Section 6.1(b) and Section 6.1(c), the management of the Company is fully reserved to the Members, and the powers
of the Company shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the Company shall be managed under the direction of, the
Members, who, except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, shall make all decisions and take all actions for the Company.

(b) The Members shall have the power and authority to delegate to one or more other persons the Members’ rights and power to
manage and control the business and affairs, or any portion thereof, of the Company, including to delegate to agents, officers and employees of a
Member or the Company, and to delegate by a management agreement with or otherwise to other Persons.

(c) Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement expressly requiring Member consent or approval, the Members hereby
delegate to the Board to the fullest extent permitted under this Agreement and Delaware law, all power and authority related to the Company’s
management and control of the business affairs of the Company and the Partnership Group (the “Business”).

Section 1.2 Establishment of the Board; Board Composition.

The number of directors (the “Directors”) constituting the Board shall be fixed from time to time by unanimous consent of the Members, except
as specifically set forth below. The Directors shall serve as Directors of the Company for their term of office established pursuant to Section 6.5. As of
the date
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hereof, the Board shall be composed of five Directors, as initially set forth on Exhibit B. The Directors shall be appointed as follows:

(a) The Mach Member shall be entitled to appoint: (i) if the Mach Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 0% but equal to or
less than 25%, one (1) director, (ii) if the Mach Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 25% but equal to or less than 50%, two (2) directors, (iii) if
the Mach Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 50% but equal to or less than 75%, three (3) directors, (iv) if the Mach Member’s Percentage
Interest is greater than 75% but less than 100%, four (4) directors, and (v) if the Mach Member’s Percentage Interest is 100%, five (5) directors (such
directors, the “Mach Directors”); and

(b) The BCE Member shall be entitled to appoint: (i) if the BCE Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 0% but equal to or
less than 25%, one (1) director, (ii) if the BCE Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 25% but equal to or less than 50%, two (2) directors, (iii) if
the BCE Member’s Percentage Interest is greater than 50% but equal to or less than 75%, three (3) directors, (iv) if the BCE Member’s Percentage
Interest is greater than 75% but less than 100%, four (4) directors, and (v) if the BCE Member’s Percentage Interest is 100%, five (5) directors (such
directors, the “BCE Directors”).

Section 1.3 Non-Independent Directors.

(a) Mach Non-Independent Director. The Mach Member, to the extent permitted to appoint Mach Directors, shall only be entitled to
appoint one Director that is not Independent (a “Non-Independent Director”).

(b) BCE Non-Independent Director. The BCE Member, to the extent permitted to appoint BCE Directors, shall only be entitled to
appoint one Non-Independent Director.

Section 1.4 The Board; Delegation of Authority and Duties.

(a) Members and Board . The business and affairs of the Company related to the Business, including its management and control of
the business and affairs of the Partnership in its capacity as general partner of the Partnership, shall be managed under the direction of the Board, which
shall possess all rights and powers which are possessed by “managers” under the Act and otherwise by applicable law, pursuant to Section 18-402 of the
Act, subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided for herein, the Members hereby consent to the exercise by the Board of all
such powers and rights conferred on it by the Act or otherwise by applicable law with respect to the management and control of the Company.

(b) Delegation by the Board. The Board shall have the power and authority to delegate to one or more other Persons the Board’s
rights and powers, including delegating such rights and powers of the Board to agents, employees and Officers of the Company. The Board may
authorize any Person (including any Member or any Director or Officer) to enter into any agreement on behalf of the Company and perform the
obligations of the Company thereunder.

(c) Committees.

(i) The Board may establish committees of the Board and may delegate any of its responsibilities to such committees.

(ii) For as long as Partnership Interests are listed on a national securities exchange that requires an independent audit
committee, the Board shall have an audit committee comprised entirely of Independent Directors, and no Mach Director or BCE Director shall be
permitted to serve as a member of the audit committee unless such Director meets the requirements of an “Independent Director.” Such audit committee
shall establish a written audit committee charter in accordance with the rules of the principal national securities exchange on which a class of Partnership
Interests of the Partnership are listed or admitted to trading, as amended from time to time.
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(iii) The conflicts committee of the Board shall be comprised entirely of Independent Directors, and no Mach Director or
BCE Director shall be permitted to serve as a member of the conflicts committee unless such Director meets the requirements of an “Independent
Director.”

(d) Chairman of the Board. The Directors may unanimously select a chairman (the “ Chairman”) of the Board. The Chairman of the
Board, if selected, shall be a member of the Board and shall preside at all meetings of the Board and of the partners of the Partnership. The Chairman of
the Board shall not be an Officer by virtue of being the Chairman of the Board but may otherwise be an Officer. The Chairman of the Board may be
removed as Chairman of the Board either with or without Cause at any time by unanimous consent of the Members. No removal or resignation as
Chairman of the Board shall affect such Chairman’s status as a Director. The initial Chairman of the Board shall be as set forth on Exhibit B.

Section 1.5 Term of Office; Removal and Replacement.

(a) Once designated pursuant to Section 6.2, a Director shall continue in office until the removal of such Director in accordance with
the provisions of this Agreement or until the earlier death or resignation of such Director. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice of
such Director’s resignation to the Board. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time the Board receives such notice or at any later effective time
specified in such notice. Unless otherwise specified in such notice, the acceptance by the Board of such Director’s resignation shall not be necessary to
make such resignation effective. The Mach Member may remove, or remove and replace, any Mach Director at any time and for any reason (including
without Cause) and the BCE Member may remove, or remove and replace, any BCE Director at any time and for any reason (including without Cause).
The Board may remove any Director only for Cause, as determined in good faith by the Board. In the event any vacancy is created on the Board by
reason of the death, disability, removal, resignation or retirement of (x) any Mach Director, the Mach Member shall (and shall have the sole right to)
appoint a replacement for such Mach Director, or (y) any BCE Director, the BCE Member shall (and shall have the sole right to) appoint a replacement
for such BCE Director.

(b) If either the Mach Member or the BCE Member loses its right to appoint a Director as a result of a change in its Percentage
Interest pursuant to Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.2(b), then upon written notice from the Member that has gained the right to appoint a director pursuant to
such sections of such Member’s Director appointment, the Director appointed by the Member that lost such appointment right shall be deemed to have
automatically resigned, and the director identified as being appointed in such notice shall automatically be appointed.

Section 1.6 Meetings of the Board and Committees.

(a) Meetings. The Board (or any committee of the Board) shall meet at such time and at such place as the Chairman of the Board (or
the chairman of such committee) may designate. Written notice of all regular meetings of the Board (or any committee of the Board) must be given to all
Directors (or all members of such committee) at least two days prior to the regular meeting of the Board (or such committee). Special meetings of the
Board (or any committee of the Board) shall be held at the request of the Chairman, a majority of the Directors (or a majority of the members of such
committee), a Mach Director or a Member upon at least two days (if the meeting is to be held in person) or twenty-four hours (if the meeting is to be
held telephonically) oral or written notice to the Directors (or the members of such committee) or upon such shorter notice as may be approved by the
Directors, including a Mach Director, (or the members of such committee), which approval may be given before or after the relevant meeting to which
the notice relates. All notices and other communications to be given to Directors (or members of a committee) shall be sufficiently given for all purposes
hereunder if in writing and delivered by hand, courier or overnight delivery service or three days after being mailed by certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested, with appropriate postage prepaid, or when received in the form of an electronic mail message, and shall be directed to the address, or
electronic mail address as such Director (or member) shall designate by notice to the Company. The business to be transacted at, and the purpose of, any
regular or special meeting of the Board (or committee) shall be specified in the notice of such meeting. Any Director (or member of such committee)
may waive the requirement of such notice as to such Director (or such member).
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(b) Conduct of Meetings. Any meeting of the Board (or any committee of the Board) may be held in person or by telephone
conference or similar communications equipment by means of which all Persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation
in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

(c) Quorum. Fifty percent or more of all Directors (or members of a committee of the Board), present in person, participating in
accordance with Section 6.6(b), or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, but if at any meeting of the Board (or
committee) there shall be less than a quorum present, a majority of the Directors (or members of a committee) present may adjourn the meeting without
further notice. The Directors (or members of a committee) present at a duly organized meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment,
notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Directors (or members of a committee) to leave less than a quorum; provided, however, that only the acts of
the Directors (or members of a committee) meeting the requirements of Section 6.8 shall be deemed to be acts of the Board (or such committee).

Section 1.7 Compensation of Directors. Unless otherwise restricted by the Act or other Applicable Law, the Board shall have the authority
to fix the compensation of the Directors; provided, however, that Directors who are also employees of the Company or any Affiliate thereof shall receive
no compensation for their services as Directors or committee members. Subject to the immediately preceding sentence, the Directors may be paid their
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at
each meeting of the Board or a stated salary or other compensation as a Director. Members of special or standing Board committees may also be paid
their expenses, if any, and an additional sum, salary or other compensation for attending Board committee meetings.

Section 1.8 Voting.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the effectiveness of any vote, consent or other action of the Board (or any committee) in respect
of any matter shall require either (i) the presence of a quorum and the affirmative vote of at least a majority of all Directors (or members of such
committee) or (ii) the unanimous written consent (in lieu of meeting) of all Directors (or members of such committee). Any Director may vote in person
or by proxy (pursuant to a power of attorney) on any matter that is to be voted on by the Board at a meeting thereof.

Section 1.9 Authority of the Board and the Officers.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the relative authority and functions of the Board, on the one hand, and the Officers, on the other
hand, shall be identical to the relative authority and functions of the board of directors and officers, respectively, of a corporation organized under the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”); provided that any authority or function of the Board may be delegated by the Board to
the Officers. The Officers shall be vested with such powers and duties as are set forth in Section 7.1 hereof and as are specified by the Board from time
to time. Accordingly, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, the day-to-day activities of the Company shall be conducted on the
Company’s behalf by the Officers who shall be agents of the Company. In addition to the powers and authorities expressly conferred on the Board by
this Agreement, the Board may exercise all such powers of the Company and do all such acts and things as are not restricted by this Agreement, the
Partnership Agreement, the Act or applicable law.

Section 1.10 Devotion of Time.

The Directors shall not be obligated and shall not be expected to devote all of their time or business efforts to the affairs of the Company (except,
to the extent applicable, in their capacity as employees of the Company).

Section 1.11 Certificate of Formation.

The Delaware Certificate was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as required by the Act and certain other certificates or
documents it determined in its discretion to be
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necessary or appropriate for the qualification and operation of the Company in certain other states. The Board shall use all reasonable efforts to cause to
be filed such additional certificates or documents as may be determined by the Board to be necessary or appropriate for the formation, continuation,
qualification and operation of a limited liability company in the State of Delaware or any other state in which the Company may elect to do business or
own property. To the extent that such action is determined by the Board to be necessary or appropriate, the Board shall cause the Officers to file
amendments to and restatements of the Delaware Certificate and do all things to maintain the Company as a limited liability company under the laws of
the State of Delaware or of any other state in which the Company may elect to do business or own property.

Section 1.12 Benefit Plans.

The Board may propose and adopt on behalf of the Company employee benefit plans, employee programs and employee practices, or cause the
Company to issue interests of the Company (or to exercise its authority to cause the Partnership to issue Partnership Interests), in connection with or
pursuant to any employee benefit plan, employee program or employee practice maintained or sponsored by any Group Member or any Affiliate thereof,
in each case for the benefit of employees of the Company, any Group Member or any Affiliate thereof, or any of them, in respect of services performed,
directly or indirectly, for the benefit of any Group Member.

Section 1.13 Indemnification.

(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law, all Indemnitees shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company from and against
any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest,
settlements or other amounts arising from any and all threatened, pending or completed claims, demands, actions, suits or proceedings, whether civil,
criminal, administrative or investigative, and whether formal or informal and including appeals, in which any Indemnitee may be involved, or is
threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of its status as an Indemnitee and acting (or refraining to act) in such capacity; provided, that
the Indemnitee shall not be indemnified and held harmless if there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent
jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the matter for which the Indemnitee is seeking indemnification pursuant to this Section 6.13, the Indemnitee
acted in bad faith or, in the case of a criminal matter, acted with knowledge that the Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful. Any indemnification pursuant to
this Section 6.13 shall be made only out of the assets of the Company, it being agreed that the Members shall not be personally liable for such
indemnification and shall have no obligation to contribute or loan any monies or property to the Company to enable it to effectuate such indemnification.

(b) To the fullest extent permitted by law, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred by an Indemnitee who is
indemnified pursuant to Section 6.13(a) in appearing at, participating in or defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding shall, from time to
time, be advanced by the Company prior to a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect
of the matter for which the Indemnitee is seeking indemnification pursuant to this Section 6.13, that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified upon
receipt by the Company of any undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay such amount if it shall be ultimately determined that the
Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified as authorized by this Section 6.13.

(c) The indemnification provided by this Section 6.13 shall be in addition to any other rights to which an Indemnitee may be entitled
under any agreement, as a matter of law, in equity or otherwise, both as to actions in the Indemnitee’s capacity as an Indemnitee and as to actions in any
other capacity, and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to serve in such capacity and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors,
assigns and administrators of the Indemnitee; provided, that any right of indemnification (including the right to advancement of expenses) of an
Indemnitee provided under this Agreement and the Partnership Agreement shall be the primary source of indemnification (with the right of
indemnification under the Partnership Agreement primary to rights under this Agreement) and any other indemnification or similar rights of an
Indemnitee shall be secondary to rights under this Agreement or the Partnership Agreement.
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(d) The Company may purchase and maintain (or reimburse its Affiliates for the cost of) insurance, on behalf of the Directors, the
Officers, the BCE Member, the Mach Member, its Affiliates, the Indemnitees and such other Persons as the Members shall determine, against any
liability that may be asserted against, or expense that may be incurred by, such Person in connection with the Company’s activities or such Person’s
activities on behalf of the Company, regardless of whether the Company would have the power to indemnify such Person against such liability under the
provisions of this Agreement.

(e) For purposes of this Section 6.13, the Company shall be deemed to have requested an Indemnitee to serve as fiduciary of an
employee benefit plan whenever the performance by it of its duties to the Company also imposes duties on, or otherwise involves services by, it to the
plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan; excise taxes assessed on an Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable
law shall constitute “fines” within the meaning of Section 6.13(a); and action taken or omitted by an Indemnitee with respect to any employee benefit
plan in the performance of its duties for a purpose reasonably believed by it to be in the best interest of the participants and beneficiaries of the plan shall
be deemed to be for a purpose that is in the best interests of the Company.

(f) In no event may an Indemnitee subject the Members to personal liability by reason of the indemnification provisions set forth in
this Agreement.

(g) An Indemnitee shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 6.13 because the Indemnitee had an
interest in the transaction with respect to which the indemnification applies if the transaction was otherwise not prohibited by the terms of this
Agreement.

(h) The provisions of this Section 6.13 are for the benefit of the Indemnitees and their heirs, successors, assigns, executors and
administrators and shall not be deemed to create any rights for the benefit of any other Persons.

(i) No amendment, modification or repeal of this Section 6.13 or any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce or
impair the right of any past, present or future Indemnitee to be indemnified by the Company, nor the obligations of the Company to indemnify any such
Indemnitee under and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 6.13 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or repeal
with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of
when such claims may arise or be asserted.

(j) TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, AND SUBJECT TO SECTION 6.13(a), THE
PROVISIONS OF THE INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 6.13 ARE INTENDED BY THE PARTIES TO APPLY EVEN IF
SUCH PROVISIONS HAVE THE EFFECT OF INDEMNIFYING OR EXCULPATING THE INDEMNITEE FROM LEGAL RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE CONSEQUENCES OF SUCH PERSON’S NEGLIGENCE, FAULT OR OTHER CONDUCT.

Section 1.14 Limitation of Liability of Indemnitees.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, any Group Member Agreement, any Joint Venture
Agreement, under the Act or any other law, rule or regulation or at equity, to the fullest extent allowed by law, no Indemnitee or any of its employees or
Persons acting on its behalf shall be liable for monetary damages to the Company, the Members, or any other Persons who have acquired interests in the
Company or are bound by this Agreement, for losses sustained or liabilities incurred, of any kind or character, as a result of any act or omission of an
Indemnitee or any of its employees or Persons acting on its behalf unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of
competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the matter in question, the Indemnitee or any of its employees or Persons acting on its behalf acted
in bad faith or, in the case of a criminal matter, acted with knowledge that the Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.

(b) The Company may exercise any of the powers granted to it by this Agreement and perform any of the duties imposed upon it
hereunder either directly or by or through its agents, and
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the Company shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any such agent appointed by the Company in good faith.

(c) To the extent that, at law or in equity, an Indemnitee or any of its employees or Persons acting on its behalf has duties (including
fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Company or to the Members or to any other Persons who have acquired an interest in the Company
or are otherwise bound by this Agreement, the Company and any other Indemnitee or any of its employees or Persons acting on its behalf acting in
connection with the Company’s business or affairs shall not be liable to the Company, the Members, or any other Persons who have acquired interests in
the Company or are bound by this Agreement for its good faith reliance on the provisions of this Agreement

(d) Any amendment, modification or repeal of this Section 6.14 or any provision hereof shall be prospective only and shall not in any
way affect the limitations on the liability of the Indemnitees under this Section 6.14 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or
repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal,
regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

Section 1.15 Reliance by Third Parties.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Person dealing with the Company shall be entitled to assume that any Officer
authorized by the Board to act for and on behalf of and in the name of the Company has full power and authority to encumber, sell or otherwise use in
any manner any and all assets of the Company and to enter into any authorized contracts on behalf of the Company, and such Person shall be entitled to
deal with any such Officer as if it were the Company’s sole party in interest, both legally and beneficially. The Members hereby waive any and all
defenses or other remedies that may be available against such Person to contest, negate or disaffirm any action of any such Officer in connection with
any such dealing. In no event shall any Person dealing with any such Officer or its representatives be obligated to ascertain that the terms of the
Agreement have been complied with or to inquire into the necessity or expedience of any act or action of any such Officer or its representatives. Each
and every certificate, document or other instrument executed on behalf of the Company by any Officer authorized by the Board shall be conclusive
evidence in favor of any and every Person relying thereon or claiming thereunder that (a) at the time of the execution and delivery of such certificate,
document or instrument, this Agreement was in full force and effect, (b) the Person executing and delivering such certificate, document or instrument
was duly authorized and empowered to do so for and on behalf of and in the name of the Company and (c) such certificate, document or instrument was
duly executed and delivered in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and is binding upon the Company.

Section 1.16 Other Business of Members.

(a) Existing Business Ventures . The Members, each Director and their respective affiliates may engage in or possess an interest in
other business ventures of any nature or description, independently or with others, similar or dissimilar to the business of the Company or the
Partnership, and the Company, the Partnership, the Directors and the Members shall have no rights by virtue of this Agreement in and to such
independent ventures or the income or Profits derived therefrom, and the pursuit of any such venture, even if competitive with the business of the
Company or the Partnership, shall not be deemed wrongful or improper.

(b) Business Opportunities. Neither of the Members, any Director or any of their respective affiliates shall be obligated to present
any particular investment opportunity to the Company or the Partnership even if such opportunity is of a character that the Company, the Partnership or
any of their respective Subsidiaries might reasonably be deemed to have pursued or had the ability or desire to pursue if granted the opportunity to do so,
and the Members, each Director or any of their respective affiliates shall have the right to take for such person’s own account (individually or as a
partner or fiduciary) or to recommend to others any such particular investment opportunity.
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Section 1.17 General Partner Contribution.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Board shall have the right by delivery of written notice to the Members to
require the Company, the Board and the Members (in their capacities as Members and, to the extent applicable, as holders of Common Units) on their
own behalf and on behalf of their respective Member Groups, take all necessary action to (a) transfer all of the outstanding Membership Interests to the
Partnership for no additional consideration; (b) amend the Partnership Agreement to provide the holders of Common Units with voting rights in the
election of the members of the board of directors of the Company, as the general partner of the Partnership; and (c) amend this Agreement to reflect the
provisions in the amended Partnership Agreement providing the holders of Common Units with voting rights in the election of the members of the board
of directors of the Company, as general partner of the Partnership.

Article VII
OFFICERS

Section 1.1 Officers.

(a) Generally. The Board shall appoint agents of the Company, referred to as “Officers” of the Company as described in this Section
7.1, who shall be responsible for the day-to-day business affairs of the Company, subject to, other than as provided in the Master Services Agreement,
the overall direction and control of the Board. The Officers shall have the titles, power, authority and duties described in this Section 7.1, and as
conveyed to them under the Master Services Agreement. Each Officer holding a title that is the same as or is similar to a title typically held by an officer
of a corporation formed under the DGCL is hereby delegated the same authority and functions as such Officer could exercise if he/she were an officer of
such a corporation. The Officers of the Company as of the date hereof are set forth on Exhibit C.

(b) Appointment and Term of Office. The Officers shall be appointed by the Board at such time and for such terms as the Board shall
determine. Any Officer may be removed only by the Board. For any removal without Cause, removal shall require unanimous approval by the Board,
other than the Officer if he or she is a Director. Vacancies in any office may be filled only by unanimous consent of the Board.

(c) Powers of Attorney. The Board may grant powers of attorney or other authority as appropriate to establish and evidence the
authority of the Officers and other Persons.

(d) Officers’ Delegation of Authority . Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board, no Officer shall have the power or
authority to delegate to any Person such Officer’s rights and powers as an Officer to manage the business and affairs of the Company.

Section 1.2 Compensation.

The Officers shall receive such compensation for their services as may be designated by the Board or any committee thereof established for the
purpose of setting compensation.

Article VIII
BOOKS, RECORDS, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTS

Section 1.1 Records and Accounting.

The Board shall keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Company appropriate books and records with respect to the Company’s
business. The books of account of the Company shall be (i) maintained on the basis of a Fiscal Year that is the calendar year and (ii) maintained on an
accrual basis in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, consistently applied.
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Section 1.2 Reports.

With respect to each calendar year, the Board shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, and deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Members:

(a) Within 120 days after the end of such calendar year, a profit and loss statement and a statement of cash flows for such year and a
balance sheet as of the end of such year.

(b) Such federal, state and local income tax returns and such other accounting, tax information and schedules as shall be necessary
for the preparation by the Members on or before June 15 following the end of each calendar year of their respective income tax returns with respect to
such year.

Section 1.3 Bank Accounts.

Funds of the Company shall be deposited in such banks or other depositories as shall be designated from time to time by the Board. All
withdrawals from any such depository shall be made only as authorized by the Board and shall be made only by check, wire transfer, debit memorandum
or other written instruction.

Article IX
TAX MATTERS

Section 1.1 Tax Returns.

The Company shall prepare and timely file any U.S. federal, state and local and foreign tax returns required to be filed by the Company. Unless
otherwise determined by the Board, any income tax return of the Company shall be prepared by an independent public accounting firm selected by the
Board. Each Member shall furnish to the Company all pertinent information in its possession relating to the Company’s operations that is necessary to
enable the Company’s tax returns to be timely prepared and filed. To the extent applicable, the Company shall deliver to each Member as soon as
applicable after the end of each calendar year a Schedule K-1 together with such additional information as may be required by the Members (or their
owners) in order to file their individual returns reflecting the Company’s operations. The Company shall bear the costs of the preparation and filing of its
tax returns.

Section 1.2 Tax Status.

To the extent applicable, it is the intention of the Members that the Company be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Unless otherwise approved by the Board, neither the Company nor any Member shall make an election for the Company to be excluded from the
application of the provisions of subchapter K of chapter 1 of subtitle A of the Code or any similar provisions of applicable state law or to be classified as
other than a partnership pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3.

Section 1.3 Tax Elections.

To the extent applicable, the Company shall make the following elections on the appropriate forms or tax returns:

(a) to adopt the calendar year as the Company’s Fiscal Year, if permitted under the Code;

(b) to adopt the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

(c) to elect to amortize the organizational expenses of the Company as permitted by Code Section 709(b); and
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(d) any other election the Board may deem appropriate and in the best interests of the Company.

Section 1.4 Partnership Representative.

(a) Partnership Representative. To the extent applicable, the BCE Member shall be the “partnership representative” as provided in
Section 6223(a) of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law, the “Partnership Representative”), unless it elects, at any time, not
to be the Partnership Representative or so designates another Member, and shall appoint a “designated individual” meeting the requirements of Treasury
Regulations Section 301.6223-1(c)(3). Each Member, by the execution of this Agreement, consents to such designation of the Partnership Representative
and agrees to execute, certify, acknowledge, deliver, swear to, file and record at the appropriate public office, such documents as may be necessary or
appropriate to evidence such consent.

(b) Duties and Rights of Partnership Representative. The Partnership Representative shall keep the Mach Member informed of any
administrative and judicial proceedings for the adjustment at the Company level of any item required to be taken into account by a Member or the
Company pursuant to the Partnership Audit Rules (such administrative proceeding referred to hereinafter as a “tax audit” and such judicial proceedings
referred to hereinafter as “judicial review”); provided that the Partnership Representative shall have the sole authority to act on behalf of the Company in
any such tax audit or judicial review, including the authority to make the election under Section 6226 of the Code. If the Partnership Representative, on
behalf of the Company, receives a notice with respect to a tax audit of the Company from the Secretary of the Treasury, the Partnership Representative
shall, within ten (10) business days of receiving such notice, forward a copy of such notice to the Mach Member. The Partnership Representative shall
not enter into any settlement agreement with respect to any such tax audit or judicial review without obtaining the consent of the Mach Member.

(c) Inconsistent Treatment. If any Member intends to file a notice of inconsistent treatment under Code Section 6222(c), such
Member shall give reasonable notice under the circumstances to the Company and the other Members of such intent and the manner in which the
Member’s intended treatment of an item is (or may be) inconsistent with the treatment of that item by the other Members.

(d) Expenses of Partnership Representative. The Company shall indemnify and reimburse the Partnership Representative for all
reasonable expenses, including legal and accounting fees, claims, liabilities, losses, and damages incurred in connection with any tax audit or judicial
review. The payment of all such expenses shall be made before any distributions are made or any discretionary reserves are set aside by the BCE
Member. Neither the BCE Member nor any other person shall have any obligation to provide funds for such purpose. The taking of any action and the
incurring of any reasonable expense by the Partnership Representative in connection with any such tax audit or judicial review, except to the extent
required by law, is a matter in the sole discretion of the Partnership Representative and the provisions on indemnification set forth in Section 6.13 of this
Agreement shall be fully applicable to the Partnership Representative in its capacity as such.

Article X
DISSOLUTION, LIQUIDATION AND TRANSFER

Section 1.1 Dissolution.

(a) The Company shall be of perpetual duration; however, the Company shall dissolve, and its affairs shall be wound up, upon:

(i) an election to dissolve the Company by the Members;

(ii) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Act; or

(iii) a merger or consolidation under the Act where the Company is not the surviving entity in such merger or consolidation.
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(b) No other event shall cause a dissolution of the Company.

Section 1.2 Effect of Dissolution.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, upon the dissolution of the Company, the Members shall take such actions as may be
required pursuant to the Act and shall proceed to wind up, liquidate and terminate the business and affairs of the Company. In connection with such
winding up, the Member having the largest Percentage Interest at the time of commencement of the Company’s dissolution shall have the authority to
liquidate and reduce to cash (to the extent necessary or appropriate) the assets of the Company as promptly as is consistent with obtaining fair value
therefor, to apply and distribute the proceeds of such liquidation and any remaining assets in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.3, and to do
any and all acts and things authorized by, and in accordance with, the Act and other applicable laws for the purpose of winding up and liquidation.

Section 1.3 Application of Proceeds.

Upon dissolution and liquidation of the Company, the assets of the Company shall be applied and distributed in the following order of priority:

(a) First, to the payment of debts and liabilities of the Company (including to the Members to the extent permitted by applicable law)
and the expenses of liquidation;

(b) Second, to the setting up of such reserves as the Person required or authorized by law to wind up the Company’s affairs may
reasonably deem necessary or appropriate for any disputed, contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company, provided that any such
reserves shall be paid over by such Person to an escrow agent appointed by the Members, to be held by such agent or its successor for such period as
such Person shall deem advisable for the purpose of applying such reserves to the payment of such liabilities or obligations and, at the expiration of such
period, the balance of such reserves, if any, shall be distributed as hereinafter provided; and

(c) Thereafter, the remainder to the Members pro rata in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.

Section 1.4 Transfer of Membership Interests.

(a) Restriction on Transfers . Except for any Permitted Transfer, no Member may directly or indirectly transfer any Membership
Interests in the Company to a non-Member without the express written consent of Members holding a majority of the Percentage Interest, which consent
may be withheld in such Members’ sole and absolute discretion.

(b) Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the restrictions set forth in this Section 10.4 shall
not apply with respect to any transfer of Membership Interests by any Member (each a “Permitted Transfer”) (i) subject to Section 10.4(c), in the case
of a Member that is a natural person, by will or pursuant to applicable laws of descent and distribution or to or among such Member’s family members or
trusts or other similar estate planning vehicles established for their benefit (“Family Transferees”), and (ii) in the case of any other Member, to its
Affiliates that remain Affiliates of the transferor at all times following such transfer. Prior to any proposed transferee’s acquisition of Membership
Interests pursuant to a transfer permitted by this Section 10.4, such proposed transferee must agree to take such Membership Interests subject to and fully
bound by the terms of this Agreement applicable to such Membership Interests by executing a joinder to this Agreement in a form reasonably acceptable
to the Board.

(c) Effect of Non-Compliance.

(i) Improper Transfers Void: Any purported transfer of a Membership Interest not inconformity with this Section 10.4 shall
be null and void ab initio and of no force or effect
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whatsoever; provided, that any such attempted transfer may be a breach of this Agreement, notwithstanding that such attempted transfer is void.

(ii) Other Consequences. Without limiting the foregoing, if any Membership Interest is purported to be transferred in whole
or in part, directly or indirectly, in contravention of this Section 10.4, the Person to whom such purported transfer was made (or the Member, if the
transfer is an indirect transfer) shall not be treated as a Member hereunder for any purposes, including not being entitled to any rights to participate in the
management, voting, business or affairs of the Company or to inspect or copy the Company’s books or records, and all Membership Interests purported
to be transferred (or held by such Member, if the transfer is an indirect transfer) shall be automatically reallocated among the other Members in
proportion to their respective ownership of Membership Interests.

Article XI
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1.1 Addresses and Notices.

Any notice, demand, request, report or proxy materials required or permitted to be given or made to the Members under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be deemed given or made when delivered in person, when received by electronic message or when sent by first class United States
mail or by other means of written communication to the Members at the address described below. Any notice to the Company shall be deemed given if
received by a President at the principal office of the Company designated pursuant to Section 2.3. The Company may rely and shall be protected in
relying on any notice or other document from the Members or other Person if believed by it to be genuine.

If to the Members, to the address on record with the Company (as such address may be updated by a Member from time to time by notice to the
Company)

If to the Company:

Mach Natural Resources GP LLC
14201 Wireless Way, Suite 300
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73134
Attn: General Counsel
E-mail: mreel@machresources.com

Any notice to be sent to a Member shall be to the address set forth on Exhibit A for the applicable Member.

Section 1.2 Creditors.

None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be for the benefit of, or shall be enforceable by, any creditor of the Company.

Section 1.3 Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the principles of
conflicts of law.

Section 1.4 Invalidity of Provisions.

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions contained herein shall be reformed, construed and enforced, so as to give full effect to such remaining provisions to the greatest
extent permissible.
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Section 1.5 Jurisdiction; Venue.

Any and all claims, suits, actions or proceedings arising out of, in connection with or relating in any way to this Agreement shall be exclusively
brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, any other court located in
the State of Delaware with subject matter jurisdiction. Each party hereto unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such
courts with respect to any such claim, suit, action or proceeding and waives any objection that such party may have to the laying of venue of any claim,
suit, action or proceeding in such courts. Each party hereto (i) irrevocably agrees not to, and waives any right to, assert in any such claim, suit, action or
proceeding that (A) it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such courts or of any other court to which proceedings in such courts may be
appealed, (B) such claim, suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or (C) the venue of such claim, suit, action or proceeding is
improper, (ii) consents to process being served in any such claim, suit, action or proceeding by mailing, certified mail, return receipt requested, a copy
thereof to such party at the address in effect for notices hereunder, and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and
notice thereof; provided, nothing in clause (ii) hereof shall affect or limit any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law, and (iii)
irrevocably waives any and all right to trial by jury in any such claim, suit, action or proceeding.

Section 1.6 Amendment or Modification.

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, this Agreement may be amended or modified from time to time only by a written instrument
signed by Members holding a majority of the Percentage Interests; provided that no amendment may by its terms adversely amend any of the rights,
preferences or priorities disproportionately among holders of Membership Interests without the prior written consent of a majority of the
disproportionately impacted holders of the Membership Interests; provided, further, that for so long as the Mach Member and its Member Group owns
any Membership Interests, no amendment or modification to, or waiver of, Section 4.1 (second sentence), Section 5.1, Section 6.1, Section 6.2, except
that this proviso shall not prohibit the amendment of Section 6.2(b) to give effect to the BCE Member’s assignment of the right to appoint one or more of
the BCE Directors to a transferee (or one of such transferee’s Affiliates) of all or a portion of the BCE Member’s Membership Interest, Section 6.4,
Section 6.5, Section 6.6(c), Section 6.8, Section 6.9, Section 6.13, Section 6.14, Section 6.16, Section 7.1, Section 10.4, this Section 11.6 or Section
11.7, or any of the defined terms used in such sections, that by its terms adversely affects the rights of the Mach Member shall be made without the prior
written consent of the Mach Member.

Section 1.7 Third Party Beneficiaries.

The Members agree that any Indemnitee shall be entitled to assert rights and remedies hereunder as a third-party beneficiary hereto with respect
to those provisions of this Agreement affording a right, benefit or privilege to such Indemnitee.

[The Remainder Of This Page Is Intentionally Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Members have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

BCE-MACH AGGREGATOR LLC

By: /s/ William W. McMullen    
Name:    William W. McMullen
Title:    Authorized Person

MACH RESOURCES LLC

By: /s/ Tom L. Ward    
Name:    Tom L. Ward
Title:    Chief Executive Officer

SIGNATURE PAGE



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Tom L. Ward, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Mach Natural Resources LP;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) [Reserved];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 7, 2023 /s/ Tom L. Ward
Tom L. Ward
Chief Executive Officer
Mach Natural Resources GP, LLC, its general partner



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Kevin R. White, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Mach Natural Resources LP;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) [Reserved];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 7, 2023 /s/ Kevin R. White
Kevin R. White
Chief Financial Officer
Mach Natural Resources GP, LLC, its general partner



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Mach Natural Resources LP (the “Company”)
hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 7, 2023 /s/ Tom L. Ward
Tom L. Ward
Chief Executive Officer
Mach Natural Resources GP, LLC, its general partner



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Mach Natural Resources LP (the “Company”)
hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 7, 2023 /s/ Kevin R. White
Kevin R. White
Chief Financial Officer
Mach Natural Resources GP, LLC, its general partner


